# **CONTENTS**

#### Preface xi

#### PART I: THE LITIGATION ENVIRONMENT

# 1. A Dispute Resolution Primer 1.1

Elizabeth A. Evans Daniel G. Lentz Roman L. Weil

# 2. Serving as a Financial Expert in Litigation 2.1

Elizabeth A. Evans Roman L. Weil

# 3. Testimony Considerations 3.1

Part A: Daubert Criteria

Douglas E. Branch Saleema K. Damji

# **Part B: The Art of Testimony**

Daniel G. Lentz

#### PART II: DEVELOPING A DAMAGES ANALYSIS

# 4. Damages Theories and Causation Issues 4.1

Elizabeth A. Evans Phil J. Innes Daniel G. Lentz

# 5. Ex Ante versus Ex Post Damages Calculations 5.1

Elizabeth A. Evans Roman L. Weil

# 6. Use of Statistical Sampling in Litigation 6.1

Mark A. Gustafson Peter P. Simon

# 7. Survey Research in Litigation 7.1

Paul J. Lavrakas Jeffery A. Stec

# 8. Statistical Estimation of Incremental Cost from Accounting Data 8.1

M. Laurentius Marais William E. Wecker Roman L. Weil

#### vi **CONTENTS**

#### 9. Econometric Analysis 9.1

Anna C. King Mohan P. Rao Christian D. Tregillis

#### 10. Estimating the Cost of Capital 10.1

R. Jeffrey Malinak Justin McLean

#### 11. Business Valuation 11.1

Joseph J. Galanti

# 12. Business Interruption Insurance Claims 12.1

Daniel G. Lentz Robert M. Reeves

# 13. Lost Earnings of Persons 13.1

Daniel G. Lentz Elizabeth B. Sandza

# 14. Expert Analysis of Class Certification Issues 14.1

Christopher Chorba Mark A. Gustafson D. Lee Heavner Peter P. Simon

# PART III: LITIGATION TOOLS AND TECHNIQUES

#### 15. Data Management 15.1

Karen M. Cheek Erik W. Gibson Cathy Hasenzahl Matthew P. Jennings Russell L. Miller Vincent M. Walden

#### PART IV: ANCILLARY ISSUES IN DAMAGES MATTERS

#### 16. Prejudgment Interest 16.1

Jeffrey M. Colón Michael S. Knoll

#### 17. Punitive Damages 17.1

Peter A. Bicks Rachel M. McKenzie Shasha Y. Zou

# 18. Tax Treatment of Damages Awards 18.1

Jill Kennedy Tim Sherman

#### PART V: CIVIL LITIGATION

#### **Intellectual Property**

# 19. Economic Analysis of Nonpatent Intellectual Property Rights and Damages Measures 19.1

Elizabeth A. Evans Peter P. Simon

# 20. Patent Infringement Damages 20.1

Landan J. Ansell John W. Holzwarth Vincent E. O'Brien William B. Scally

#### 21. Role of Financial Experts in ITC Section 337 Investigations 21.1

Ryan N. Herrington Brendan P. Rogers

# 22. Calculating Infringer's Profits in Trademark, Copyright, and Design Patent Cases 22.1

Christopher P. Gerardi Dawn R. Hall Juli Saitz

# 23. Royalty Audits and Contract Compliance Investigations 23.1

Ben W. Sheppard

#### Ownership and Business Failure

#### 24. Merger and Acquisition Transaction Disputes 24.1

Elizabeth K. Gulapalli Christen L. Morand Gregory E. Wolski

#### 25. The Troubled Business and Bankruptcy 25.1

Daniel G. Lentz Grant W. Newton Lynda H. Schwartz

#### 26. Alter Ego 26.1

Elizabeth A. Evans Daniel G. Lentz

#### **Regulatory Litigation**

#### 27. Federal Securities Acts and Areas of Expert Analysis 27.1

Kevin L. Gold Eric Korman Ahmer Nabi

#### viii CONTENTS

# 28. Economic Analysis in Securities Class Certification 28.1

Michal A. Malkiewicz Cathy M. Niden Mohan Rao

# 29. Monitorships and Deferred Prosecution Agreements: History, Process, and Recent Trends 29.1

Norman J. Harrison

#### 30. Securities Finance Disputes 30.1

Edmon W. Blount Eric B. Poer Tiko V. Shah

#### 31. Antitrust 31.1

Amy W. Ray Christopher D. Wall

# 32. Federal Contract Disputes 32.1

Andrew G. Artz Sajeev D. Malaveetil

# **Construction and Real Property Disputes**

# 33. Construction Claims 33.1

Bilge Astarlioglu Stephen P. Lechner

#### 34. Real Estate Litigation 34.1

Mariano S. Borges Steven A. Klett Mark R. Molepske Michael E. Straneva

# Other Civil Litigation

#### 35. Accountant Liability 35.1

Mark A. Carlson Thomas H. L. Selby

#### 36. Executive Compensation in the Litigation Setting 36.1

Eli Bartov Lynda H. Schwartz

#### 37. Covenants Not to Compete ("Noncompete Agreements" or "NCAs") 37.1

Elizabeth A. Evans Kevin F. Rasmussen Roman L. Weil

# 38. Employment Litigation 38.1

Christopher Haan Elaine Reardon Ali Saad

#### 39. Fair Lending Litigation 39.1

Joshua Garcia Valerie L. Hletko H Joshua Kotin Benjamin P. Saul

#### PART VI: CRIMINAL MATTERS AND INVESTIGATIONS

#### 40. Tax Fraud: Criminal Cases 40.1

Edward M. Robbins Jr.

# 41. Financial Statement Investigations 41.1

Dean C. Bunch Karen M. Cheek Desi Ivanova

# 42. Health Care Fraud and False Claims Act Damages 42.1

Frank E. Correll Jr. Thomas A. Gregory Gregory M. Luce Karen A. Makara

# 43. International Investigations: Successful Planning and Execution 43.1

Sergio P. Negreira

#### **PART VII: FAMILY LAW**

#### 44. Family Law Services 44.1

Donald A. Glenn Charles A. Burak

#### **About the Editors**

#### **About the Contributors**

Index

# PART

# THE LITIGATION ENVIRONMENT

**CHAPTER 1** 

A Dispute Resolution Primer

**CHAPTER 2** 

Serving as a Financial Expert in Litigation

CHAPTER 3

**Testimony Considerations** 

# CHAPTER 1

# A DISPUTE RESOLUTION PRIMER\*

# Elizabeth A. Evans Daniel G. Lentz Roman L. Weil

#### **CONTENTS**

- 1.1 Introduction 1.2
  - (a) Rationale for the Book 1.2
  - (b) Expert Opinions and Admissibility: The Rules of the Road 1.2
  - (c) Role of the Financial Expert in Litigation 1.4
  - (d) Tasks Undertaken by Financial Experts 1.5
- 1.2 The Civil Court System 1.5
  - (a) General Process 1.5
  - (b) Experts' Involvement in a Case 1.6
  - (c) Federal District Court System 1.6
  - (d) Federal Courts of Appeals 1.7
  - (e) U.S. Supreme Court 1.7
  - (f) Special Federal Courts 1.7
  - (g) State Courts 1.8
  - (h) Choice of Courts 1.8
  - (i) Applicable Rules Governing Litigation 1.9
  - (j) Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) 1.10
- 1.3 The Legal Process 1.10
  - (a) Overview of a Lawsuit 1.10
  - (b) Legal Pleadings 1.10
  - (c) Discovery—Introduction 1.11
  - (d) Discovery—Written Reports 1.11
  - (e) Discovery—Interrogatories 1.12
  - (f) Discovery—Requests for Production of Documents 1.12

- (g) Discovery—Requests for Admissions 1.13
- (h) Discovery—Depositions 1.13
- (i) Discovery—Subpoenas 1.14
- (j) Trial 1.15
- (k) Types of Outcomes 1.17
- (l) Appeal 1.17
- 1.4 The Alternative Dispute Resolution Process 1.18
  - (a) Definition and Overview 1.18
  - (b) Advantages and Disadvantages of ADR 1.19
- 1.5 Forms of Alternative Dispute

Resolution 1.20

- (a) Arbitration 1.20
- (b) Mediation 1.21
- (c) Other Forms of ADR 1.22
- 1.6 Domestic ADR 1.23
  - (a) Rules Governing the Use of ADR 1.23
  - (b) The Neutral 1.24
  - (c) The Role of Experts 1.25
- 1.7 International Arbitration 1.26
  - (a) Differences from Domestic Arbitration 1.26
  - (b) Rules Governing International Arbitration 1.26
  - (c) Arbitral Institutions 1.27
  - (d) Arbitration with a State or Parastatal Entity 1.28

<sup>&#</sup>x27;The authors acknowledge David P. Hoffman, Peter Frank, Christian Hughes, and Michael Wagner, who coauthored the versions of this chapter that appeared in the fourth and fifth editions of the *Litigation Services Handbook*. They also acknowledge Patricia D. Tilton, who authored the chapter "Alternative Dispute Resolution" that appeared in the fourth edition of this handbook. This chapter retains much of their work.

#### 1 • 2 A DISPUTE RESOLUTION PRIMER

(e) The Tribunal 1.28 (f) The Role of Experts 1.28

1.8 Conclusion 1.29 REFERENCES 1.31

#### 1.1 INTRODUCTION

#### (a) Rationale for the Book

Anyone who considers undertaking the role of an expert will find this book valuable. It will help novice and experienced practitioners stay abreast of current methods and case law and will guide them in other areas in which they can apply their experience.

NOTES 1.30

This book is a current reference for certified public accountants (CPAs) and other experts involved in typical litigation cases and includes technical approaches and case-specific tools in use today. Although not exhaustive on any topic, it addresses the roles that experts play in litigation in commonly encountered cases. We incorporate advice from practitioners with extensive experience in litigation services.

#### (b) Expert Opinions and Admissibility: The Rules of the Road

Over time, the role of experts has expanded in the American legal system. Originally, courts allowed expert testimony only when the facts became too complex for an average juror to understand, and no expert could express an opinion on the ultimate issue. The Federal Rules of Evidence have liberalized this and other rules applying to experts, thereby increasing their roles. Rule 702, Testimony by Experts, states:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise, if (1) the testimony is based upon sufficient facts or data, (2) the testimony is the product of reliable principles and methods, and (3) the witness has applied the principles and methods reliably to the facts of the case.<sup>1</sup>

Rules 703 through 705 of the Federal Rules of Evidence also relate to expert testimony. Rule 703 allows experts in reaching their opinion to rely on otherwise inadmissible facts or data if they are "of a type reasonably relied upon by experts in the particular field in forming opinions or inferences upon the subject." Experts can, for example, rely on hearsay evidence, posing the risk that their testimony will expose jurors to evidence from which the Rules of Evidence aim to insulate them. For this reason, Rule 703 requires judges to guard against the expert acting as a "smuggler of hearsay" to the jury: "Facts or data that are otherwise inadmissible shall not be disclosed to the jury by the proponent of the opinion or inference unless the court determines that their probative value in assisting the jury to evaluate the expert's opinion substantially outweighs their prejudicial effect."

Rule 704 allows experts to give an opinion on the issue that the trier of fact will ultimately decide. (The only exception relates to an alleged criminal's mental state.) Thus, an expert can give an opinion on such issues as liability or the amount of damages.

The U.S. Supreme Court guided federal trial court judges as to the admissibility of expert testimony in *Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals*, 113 S. Ct. 2796

(1993). The trial judge has broad discretion to act as a gatekeeper to forbid expert testimony based on mere subjective belief or unsupported speculation. Although the Court decided *Daubert* in the context of scientific expert testimony, the decision applies to any expert testimony, including financial, economic, and accounting testimony; the Court provided this clarity in *Kumho Tire Co. v. Carmichael*, 526 U.S. 137 (1999). For an in-depth discussion of the effects of the *Daubert* case, see Chapter 3.

Although *Daubert* and its progeny provide no exclusive list or set of tests that the expert's testimony must meet to be admissible—and thus survive the judge's gatekeeping function—one does well to consider the factors that the decision enumerates:

- Is the theory or technique testable? Has it been tested?
- Has it been subjected to peer review or publication?
- Is the potential rate of error known?
- Is it generally accepted within the relevant community of experts?

These *Daubert*-originated factors, bowing to the scientific method, reflect the scientific nature of the expert evidence at issue in that case. We reiterate that these are only examples; they are neither mandatory tests nor a checklist, and one's testimony can flunk a given test yet be judged admissible by the court. Similarly, a court will exclude testimony that meets all the factors if it lacks relevance, doesn't relate to the facts of the case, or otherwise proves unreliable. The Advisory Committee's Note to Amendment (to Rule 702) effective December 1, 2000, includes some bases for excluding testimony, as well as good standards to apply when evaluating one's own prospective testimony (Chapter 3 includes an extended discussion of this topic and related court cases):

- Whether testimony is based on research conducted independent of the litigation or was expressly undertaken for the purpose of the testimony;
- Whether the expert has unjustifiably extrapolated from an accepted premise to an unfounded conclusion;
- Whether the expert has adequately accounted for obvious alternative explanations;
- Whether the expert applies the same degree of intellectual rigor within the courtroom as without;
- Whether the field of expertise claimed by the expert is known to reach reliable results (for example, astrologers observe some principles generally accepted within their community but not accepted, per the Advisory Committee, within the courtroom).

Diligent, experienced attorneys with adequate time and funding will take the time and care needed to maximize the likelihood of the testimony's admissibility. Many cases lack such resources, and the experts must then apply care and thoughtfulness to avoid exclusion. In the short term, admissibility will avoid the prejudice to the client (and embarrassment to the expert) of a testimony's exclusion. Excluded testimony will also have long-run repercussions: The misfortune will become a topic of discussion in future depositions and *voir dire*<sup>2</sup> proceedings. It will also require a "yes" answer to one of the first questions that most attorneys will ask an expert whom they consider retaining: "Has a court ever excluded your testimony?"

#### 1 • 4 A DISPUTE RESOLUTION PRIMER

Before one can confront the perils of qualifying to testify in the courtroom, the court must allow the expert to enter. Federal Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 26(a)(2) provides the requirements for federal cases:

#### (2) Disclosure of Expert Testimony.

- (A) In addition to the disclosures required by paragraph (1), a party shall disclose to other parties the identity of any person who may be used at trial to present evidence under Rules 702, 703, or 705 of the Federal Rules of Evidence.
- (B) Except as otherwise stipulated or directed by the court, this disclosure shall, with respect to a witness who is retained or specially employed to provide expert testimony in the case or whose duties as an employee of the party regularly involve giving expert testimony, be accompanied by a written report prepared and signed by the witness. The report shall contain a complete statement of all opinions to be expressed and the basis and reasons therefor; the data or other information considered by the witness in forming the opinions; any exhibits to be used as a summary of or support for the opinions; the qualifications of the witness, including a list of all publications authored by the witness within the preceding ten years; the compensation to be paid for the study and testimony; and a listing of any other cases in which the witness has testified as an expert at trial or by deposition within the preceding four years.
- (C) These disclosures shall be made at the times and in the sequence directed by the court. . . . [The expert should consult with the retaining attorney regarding the specific provisions that follow.]

Section 1.3(d) of this chapter discusses the nature and content of expert disclosures, including the report substance. Note that the states' requirements for expert disclosure and discovery have more variation than do the federal standards for admission of expert testimony. Some states have little or no discovery of evidence from the parties, resulting in "trial by ambush."

#### (c) Role of the Financial Expert in Litigation

Lawyers use experts in litigation for the same reasons that businesses retain experts as advisors: Lawyers need quality advice when litigating, and experts offer this service because they give advice in the real world to real companies with real problems. Juries understand and respect this practical experience. Because accounting is the language of business, accountants can often clarify business transactions and explain the records reflecting them to lawyers, judges, and the jury. Because economists help companies apply the principles of market definition, price theory, economic modeling, and market risk, they can help interpret the effects of a firm's behavior on competitors or other related entities. Various experts have the quantitative skills required to undertake and perform the analyses necessary to interpret the technical evidence required in complex commercial cases.

The ideal expert (1) has never testified before and has no relationship with the hiring attorney, firm, or client, so that the jury will be disinclined to regard him as a hired gun, but (2) has substantial experience in litigation analyses, testimony, and response to cross-examination. This prospective expert does not exist. The lawyer must weigh the risks and rewards each case presents in making the selection.

This book focuses on the role of an expert witness (rather than a fact witness) because litigation practitioners most often serve in this comprehensive role. Experts frequently play a behind-the-scenes role as consultant to the legal team or, occasionally, as arbitrator.

#### (d) Tasks Undertaken by Financial Experts

Attorneys most often retain experts to compute or rebut the plaintiff's damages claim for loss resulting from the defendant's alleged legal wrong. They also provide analysis and testimony on liability issues where their expertise suits them to prepare relevant analyses or to discuss compliance with professional standards in malpractice and similar cases. In addition, experts sometimes address the business issues in a case: economists and CPAs with suitable experience often consult or testify on issues that involve marketing, economics, and industry practices.

Experts can organize and synthesize data. Hence, lawyers rely on them to review collections of documents to extract, store, and analyze information relevant to discovery and trial.

#### 1.2 THE CIVIL COURT SYSTEM

#### (a) General Process

With the exception of criminal activities related to fraud (Part VI), this book focuses primarily on civil disputes. Those disputes fall into tort or contract causes of action. A tort is a wrongful act or inaction unrelated to a contract, such as negligence, fraud, or interference with prospective economic relations. Contract causes of action arise from a breach of a contract's essential terms.

Judges and juries resolve disputes. Judges determine the applicable law in all courts; in *bench trials* (i.e., trials heard by judges, without a jury), they also identify the facts when those are in controversy. Parties also have the right to demand a jury to decide disputed facts in trials before most courts of general jurisdiction, but not in trials involving family law, probate and estate, and equitable issues.<sup>3</sup> The litigants in some special courts—including tax courts and the U.S. Court of Federal Claims—have no right to a jury. Appellate courts have no juries because the trials held in them address only legal issues; the trial court from whose decision one of the parties has appealed decides all factual issues. Even when parties can demand a jury trial, many prefer that the judge resolve all matters in dispute.

Parties have a right to appeal a decision at a trial court to the first level of the appellate process in either state or federal courts. After that, they have a right of appeal to the higher court(s) but with a diminished likelihood of that court exercising its discretion to hear the case where hearing the case is not mandatory. For example, the U.S. Supreme Court must hear cases where state or federal courts hold federal statutes unconstitutional, and many state supreme courts must hear appeals involving the death penalty. In most cases, however, the higher court has the discretion to hear or refuse to hear the appeal from the intermediate court's decision.

Courts of appeal can sustain the lower court's decision, reverse it, or partially sustain and partially reverse it. They can remand the case for retrial on whatever issues they consider appropriate and, in certain circumstances, resolve the matter with a trial *de novo*, an unusual proceeding in which the appeals court in effect retries the case itself based on the original trial record.

#### 1 • 6 A DISPUTE RESOLUTION PRIMER

#### (b) Experts' Involvement in a Case

Lawyers for the parties involved in litigation interview and retain experts both for their particular expertise and for their ability to communicate their opinions effectively. The retention usually occurs after the plaintiff files the complaint but before trial. During the pretrial period, lawyers will consult with the expert. The expert can assist in discovery by educating the lawyers as to the types of business records to ask for, drafting relevant interrogatory and deposition questions, and suggesting requests for document production.

Once the lawyers send the requested information to the expert, the expert will analyze it and explain its relevance. Experts then typically reach opinions based on their analyses and in most cases will be required to document those opinions in a report or affidavit, as noted in Federal Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 26(a)(2) (Section 1.1(b) of this chapter). In some cases, the expert also provides an evaluation or rebuttal of the opposing expert's report after it has been produced. If the lawyers deem the expert's opinions helpful to the trial issues, they then designate this person as the testifying expert witness. Those designated as testifying experts often have to appear and testify at a deposition prior to trial in which the opposing lawyer will test their expertise and probe for the bases of their opinions. Finally, the testifying experts will appear at trial and give their opinions on issues of liability or damages.

#### (c) Federal District Court System

The federal system's trial court is known as a *district court*. Federal district courts hear cases (1) in which the United States is a party, (2) that involve violation of the U.S. Constitution or federal laws, (3) between citizens of different states if the amount in question exceeds \$75,000, and (4) that involve bankruptcy, copyright, patent, and maritime law.

When a federal court tries a case because of diversity of citizenship, it will apply state law.<sup>4</sup> The federal system has 11 numbered and two unnumbered circuits, geographically organized as follows:

Federal Circuit: Jurisdiction not geographically based

District of Columbia Circuit: Washington, D.C.

First Circuit: Maine, New Hampshire, Massachusetts, Rhode Island, and Puerto Rico

Second Circuit: New York, Connecticut, and Vermont

Third Circuit: New Jersey, Pennsylvania, Delaware, and Virgin Islands

Fourth Circuit: Maryland, Virginia, West Virginia, North Carolina, and South Carolina

Fifth Circuit: Texas, Louisiana, and Mississippi

Sixth Circuit: Tennessee, Kentucky, Ohio, and Michigan

Seventh Circuit: Illinois, Indiana, and Wisconsin

**Eighth Circuit:** Arkansas, Iowa, Minnesota, Missouri, Nebraska, North Dakota, and South Dakota

Ninth Circuit: California, Arizona, Nevada, Oregon, Washington, Idaho, Montana, Alaska, Hawaii, Guam, and Northern Mariana Islands

**Tenth Circuit:** Colorado, Kansas, New Mexico, Oklahoma, Utah, and Wyoming **Eleventh Circuit:** Alabama, Georgia, and Florida

Each state in each circuit has at least one separate district court. More populous states have more than one district court. For example, California and New York each have four judicial districts, while Alabama has three and Rhode Island has one. Depending on the population and the court's budget, districts will have different numbers of judges, but each case has only one judge. The venue for a federal court case (that is, the location in which the plaintiff should file its case) is the district (1) where the defendant resides, (2) where a substantial part of the events giving rise to the claim occurred, or (3) in which any defendant is subject to personal jurisdiction if the plaintiff cannot bring the claim in any other district.

#### (d) Federal Courts of Appeals

The federal circuit courts hear appeals from district court decisions. The trial court jurisdiction dictates the appellate court jurisdiction. A federal court of appeals will accept appeals only from district courts in its circuit, with specific exceptions (e.g., appeals involving intellectual property cases) that the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit hears. A party has a right to appeal a district court decision to the appropriate court of appeals. Normally, a panel of three judges, selected at random, will hear cases on appeal. Through an *en banc* petition, a party can request that the entire panel of judges in a particular circuit hear the appeal, but the circuit can deny such a request.

#### (e) U.S. Supreme Court

A party must have a decision from the federal court of appeals before it can petition the U.S. Supreme Court for review. Rare exceptions occur for matters of extreme importance and urgency. The Supreme Court found the antitrust case between the United States and Microsoft insufficiently urgent to require an expedited appeal, whereas the 2000 presidential election presented issues deemed sufficiently urgent to merit Supreme Court action without a federal court of appeals decision. In some cases, the U.S. Supreme Court must hear the appeal (that is, the Court has mandatory review). In most cases, however, the U.S. Supreme Court has discretionary review (discussed in Section 1.2(a)). If it decides to hear such a case, the Court signals that by granting a writ of certiorari.

#### (f) Special Federal Courts

(i) Tax Court Complex tax law often requires judges with training and experience in taxation to resolve disputes expeditiously. An entity with a federal tax dispute can choose to litigate either in district court or in a special tax court, which exists solely to resolve cases between the Internal Revenue Service and taxpayers. The procedural requirements for filing in tax courts differ from those in district courts. Chapter 40 addresses tax fraud cases.

(ii) U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit Federal district courts hear patent, copyright, and trademark issues, collectively referred to as intellectual property

#### 1 • 8 A DISPUTE RESOLUTION PRIMER

disputes (discussed in Chapters 19 through 23). Appeals from district court decisions on such cases do not go to the corresponding circuit court of appeals but to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit in Washington, D.C. The Federal Circuit also hears appeals from the Court of Federal Claims, which we discuss next.

(iii) U.S. Court of Federal Claims This court renders judgment on any claim against the United States based on the Constitution, any act of Congress, regulation of an executive department, or an express or implied contract with the United States. Although the U.S. Court of Federal Claims hears most claims for damages against the federal government, district courts have concurrent jurisdiction of certain claims against the United States (e.g., certain tax claims) and exclusive jurisdiction of most tort claims. Chapter 32 addresses federal contract disputes.

(iv) Bankruptcy Courts Each federal district has a bankruptcy court to hear cases filed by corporations or partnerships under Title 7 or 11 of the United States Code covering bankruptcy matters or filed by persons under Title 7 or 13. The bankruptcy court has exclusive jurisdiction over all of the debtor's property once a filing for bankruptcy has occurred. Chapter 25 discusses bankruptcy procedure and practice.

#### (g) State Courts

Similar to the federal system, state court systems have trial courts, courts of appeals, and a supreme court to handle final appeals. State court systems usually have several different types of trial courts, and the nomenclature varies across states. The State of New York, for example, refers to its trial court as "the Supreme Court of the State of New York." The State of New York refers to its ultimate court as the Court of Appeals.

(i) Courts of Limited Jurisdiction Some state trial courts limit the amount of damages that the plaintiff can collect or the subject matters that they can decide on. A small claims court is an example of such a court. Many courts of limited jurisdiction cannot hear felony cases but only civil and criminal misdemeanor cases.

(ii) Courts of Unlimited Jurisdiction Each state has general-purpose trial courts, similar to the district courts in the federal system. These courts handle cases that involve major issues, whether for large monetary damages or for felony matters in criminal cases. The expert involved in state court most often works in these courts.

#### (h) Choice of Courts

A plaintiff sometimes can choose the court in which to file a lawsuit. If the suit involves only state law issues but meets federal diversity standards, the plaintiff can file in either state or federal court. If the plaintiff elects to file in federal court, more than one federal court often presents a proper venue (location) for the trial.

Some plaintiffs consider several other factors before deciding in which court to file: the judges' reputations, existing law, and the length of wait to trial. Additional considerations include the number of jurors necessary to reach a verdict (this can differ by court: federal district courts require a unanimous decision by six jurors;

many states require 12 jurors, but not all states require a unanimous decision), as well as the record and apparent attitude of the related appeals court. Commentators often belittle this decision process as "forum shopping," an attempt to find the court that will exhibit the most sympathy for the plaintiff's position. Certain states have a reputation of presenting rosier prospects for class plaintiffs (e.g., Alabama), for commercial defendants (e.g., Delaware), for insurance companies (e.g., New York), or for conferring a home-field advantage in dispensing justice (e.g., Texas). Whether one credits these reputations, most litigants will find it more economical to proceed in their local courts rather than to bring or defend an action on the other side of the country.

#### (i) Applicable Rules Governing Litigation

(i) Evidence All judicial systems have rules of evidence governing what the parties can present to the trier of fact for deliberation. The judge rules on objections to the admissibility of evidence. Mistakes in evidential rulings, if material, become grounds for appealing the trial court decision.

Experts who offer litigation services should become familiar with the rules of evidence of the court systems in which they work. Article VII of the Federal Rules of Evidence addresses opinions and expert testimony. Article IX sets forth the rules governing authentication and identification of evidence. These rules affect the work of experts.

The rules of evidence in state courts vary. Many follow the Federal Rules of Evidence, but some do not. Of particular significance are the hearsay rules. All courts exclude hearsay, which is an out-of-court statement introduced to prove the truth of the matter (for example, evidence based on what the witness heard someone else say, rather than what the witness knows from his or her own experience). Exceptions to the hearsay rule exist, such as business records kept in the normal course of operations. Hearsay can, however, form the basis of expert opinions in some circumstances in some courts and experts should understand the requirements of their venue. The hearsay rules have evolved as commonsense safeguards against unjust trial results, and understanding the logic of the rules can help experts present their testimony more clearly and thoughtfully.

(ii) Procedure Courts differ in their methods of operation. Procedure is the set of formal steps that guides the judicial process between the filing of the complaint and the culmination of the appeal. This machinery dictates how litigants will resolve their disputes.

Criminal and civil courts differ in their procedures. This book emphasizes civil cases, so it discusses civil procedure. As with evidence, formal rules govern procedure. These rules, enacted by statute in each state and by the United States, set out the particular discovery devices that lawyers can use and when they can use them. Section 1.3 of this chapter explains typical discovery tools and their use. In addition to controlling discovery, the rules of civil procedure explain the requirements that pleadings and other motions before the court must meet.

One important rule of civil procedure that affects experts is Federal Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 26, which governs the discovery permitted of experts and consultants. Sections 1.1(b) and 1.3(d) of this chapter discuss this rule.

#### 1 • 10 A DISPUTE RESOLUTION PRIMER

(iii) Local Rules Local court rules supplement the rules of civil procedure in federal and some state courts. The rules of civil procedure do not cover all situations at the detailed level that some judges prefer. Therefore, some judges supplement them with additional procedures that litigants must follow in their courts. Typical local rules deal with page limits on motions, time limits on depositions, mandatory mediation provisions for certain types of action, and similar matters of efficiency in practice. Failure to follow the local judge's special rules can cause delay and the court can refuse to accept legal filings.

#### (j) Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR)

Many perceive the United States to have a slow and expensive court system. Several reasons account for this: the ease with which plaintiffs can initiate cases, the limited supply of judicial resources, the rights to extensive discovery, and the difficulty of scheduling attorneys' time add to the delay. These factors have encouraged disputants to pursue other means of resolution, including arbitration, mini-trials, and mediation. The second half of this chapter further discusses ADR.

#### 1.3 THE LEGAL PROCESS

#### (a) Overview of a Lawsuit

This section discusses the steps in a typical litigation that proceeds to trial. The expert who understands this structure can work better in the process and communicate better with the lawyers on the team. Litigation comprises five major stages, some of which occur concurrently: pleadings, discovery, trial, the outcome, and appeal.<sup>5</sup>

#### (b) Legal Pleadings

(i) Complaint The complaint is the first pleading in a civil case, in which the plaintiff sets out the actions (or inactions) that prompted the lawsuit. The complaint contains a list of the defendants, the name of the court in which it is filed, the laws and legal theories under which the plaintiff seeks relief, the remedies sought, and whether the plaintiff demands a jury (when that option exists).

Jurisdictions and causes of action differ in the amount of detail the complaint must include. Some courts require the plaintiff to list all known material facts used to support the claims. Other courts require minimal disclosure of facts in the complaints, requiring little more than that the plaintiff notify the defendant of the lawsuit.

(ii) Demurrer A defendant who believes that the plaintiff has not met the legal standards of a proper complaint can file a demurrer. This pleading disputes the legal sufficiency of the complaint (or other pleading). It aims to eliminate, at the outset, tangential claims, as well as those lacking merit. A demurrer states that, even assuming the facts alleged by the plaintiff are true, no cause of action exists that imposes any legal liability on the defendant. The demurrer states that the court need not decide an issue of law and requests the court to dismiss the complaint.

This device often forces the plaintiff to clarify the complaint (or other pleading) because the plaintiff must provide additional information in responsive pleadings. Sometimes the plaintiff must also amend the complaint to make it sufficient. The demurrer also provides time for the defendant to respond to the complaint.

(iii) Answer The answer by the defendant responds to the plaintiff's complaint. Normally, defendants admit the allegations in the complaint with which they agree and deny the allegations with which they disagree. Defendants can also plead affirmative defenses based on the facts pled in the complaint, which, if successful, preclude the plaintiff from prevailing.

The answer can also contain a cross-complaint in which the defendant will make claims against the plaintiff (cross-defendant), which the plaintiff will have to answer and defend at trial. Generally, the defendant must file an answer soon after receiving the complaint (20 to 30 days, unless the court grants an extension).

#### (c) Discovery—Introduction

Discovery occurs in the time between filing the original pleadings and the trial, as determined in a scheduling conference and formalized in a scheduling order issued by the judge. In discovery, each party attempts to ascertain the other party's facts and theories. Most litigation never advances to the trial stage but settles during the discovery phase or shortly before trial. Resolving confusing sets of facts and expanding a client's and counsel's knowledge of the economic landscape decreases the uncertainty of the litigation's outcome, increasing the likelihood of a settlement.

Experts perform most of their work during this period. Before identifying and collecting information, counsel and the expert should educate each other: counsel educates the expert about the legal issues in the litigation; the expert educates counsel on the economic and financial propositions that relate to these legal issues and the analyses that could develop them. Then the expert, with the assistance of counsel, collects the necessary facts, analyzes them, develops any assumptions, and forms expert opinions. Chapter 4 provides an overview of typical activities in developing the damages theory, associated models, and expert opinions related thereto. Lawyers can use various legal tools in discovery to help their experts perform their work. The following sections describe the major discovery tools and their uses.

#### (d) Discovery—Written Reports

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 26(a)(2)(B) requires that experts prepare and sign a written report. (Section 1.1(b) of this chapter contains the full text, including required elements.) Counsel must disclose this report to the other parties before the court will allow the expert to testify at trial. Local rules of the court, or agreement of the parties, or an order from the trial judge will often set the date of this disclosure. Otherwise, counsel must disclose the report at least 90 days before trial. If counsel retains an expert strictly to rebut the testimony of an opposing expert, counsel must disclose the report of this rebuttal expert within 30 days of the disclosure of the other expert's report.

#### 1 • 12 A DISPUTE RESOLUTION PRIMER

The written report's content should permit full discovery by the opposing side of all the opinions and bases for the opinions. In addition, if the expert has any changes to the report (or makes a subsequent deposition) that correct, complete, or add to the report, counsel must disclose these before trial, or the court can preclude the expert from testifying to these additional opinions or new reasons for the previously disclosed opinions.

District courts can opt out of the requirement for a written report. Experts should check with the attorneys who have retained them to ascertain the requirement of the district court in which the plaintiff has filed the case as well as any agreements specific to the case.

Many state court systems model their rules of civil procedure after the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, requiring written expert reports as well. Some state courts, however, require only the disclosure of the expert's name and the general nature of expected testimony. The expert should confer with the attorney in a state court case to ascertain what sort of disclosure the court in the matter at hand requires.

#### (e) Discovery—Interrogatories

Interrogatories are written questions that one party asks of the adversary, who must answer in writing under oath. The expert's special knowledge of business or a particular industry can help counsel construct questions to develop a thorough understanding of the adversary's systems, documentation, files, and structure. For example, the nature and extent of the opposing party's financial reporting and management information systems present possible areas of inquiry. A party can learn the names and titles of officers or principals in the business to enable further discovery of pertinent files or to identify potential sources of deposition testimony.

#### (f) Discovery—Requests for Production of Documents

A request for production of documents requires one party to provide documents that the other considers relevant to issues in the case. These requests usually follow interrogatories. If the requests do not name documents with great specificity, the opposing party often will not produce them, even when the request makes clear the information sought. When possible, therefore, the request should state exact titles of reports, which the lawyer has learned from the information obtained through previous interrogatories or depositions.

The party responding to the request often does not copy the documents. Instead, it makes the documents available, typically at its attorney's offices, where the requesting party can review them and decide which ones to copy at its own expense. As businesses move toward increased or exclusive use of electronic records, the amount of data produced has increased exponentially. Chapter 15 discusses the methods that experts use to efficiently glean and track information from such records and other issues related to electronic data and communications.

The requesting party's attorney often will want the expert to review financial and other business records produced to aid in identifying and copying the relevant documents. In addition, the expert and the attorney will review the documents

copied, so costs will increase as the number of documents discovered increases. Knowledgeable experts can reduce unnecessary copying (and subsequent review costs) by identifying the types of financial and business records that they will need to prove the issues and by helping the attorney efficiently select which of the opponents' documents to review.

#### (g) Discovery—Requests for Admissions

A request for admission seeks the opposing party's verification of information as fact. The request must relate to the litigation. Verifying the information as fact usually proves adverse to the interest of the party making the admission.

Admissions help narrow the factual issues that the parties will litigate at trial. The trial need not address undisputed facts, which decreases the time for trying a case. Judges like admissions. Experts can suggest the types of facts within their area of expertise that opposing parties might admit prior to a civil trial. The expert can also assist the attorney in developing arguments about why the party should or should not admit certain business facts prior to trial.

#### (h) Discovery—Depositions

A deposition is the oral testimony of a witness questioned under oath by an attorney, who can use the written record later at trial under certain circumstances.

(i) Deposition of a Financial Expert When a CPA, or an economist, or a financial analyst serves as an expert witness, the opposition's attorney usually deposes the expert to learn his or her background and the bases for the opinions in the case. (See Chapter 3 for a discussion of *Daubert* challenges.) The attorney uses the deposition to evaluate the expert as a trial witness, find strengths and weaknesses, and develop a comprehensive understanding of the opinions, studies, and analyses. In rare cases, some experienced attorneys omit the deposition, in part because it can educate the expert. A deposition sometimes allows an expert to test theories or methods and then to correct them as needed for the trial. Depositions present a final risk for the adverse party in that the expert can use the deposition as an opportunity to correct deficiencies in previous disclosure that might otherwise lead to exclusions by the judge for failure to comply with Rule 26.

Questions at the deposition usually cover all work that the expert performed, including rejected analyses, blind alleys, and information obtained but not used. In addition, the opposing lawyer can use the deposition to narrow the scope of the expert's testimony at the trial, because the lawyer can use information from the deposition to impeach the expert's credibility at the trial. The expert must give consistent testimony in the deposition and at trial or be prepared to explain why they differ.

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 26(b)(4)(A) sets the parameters for depositions of experts in federal cases. Counsel can take a deposition of any person whom the opposing side has identified as an expert who can testify at trial. The deposition cannot occur, however, until after counsel has disclosed the written report required by Federal Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 26(a)(2)(B).

(ii) Assisting in a Deposition Although only an attorney can ask questions at a deposition, an expert (retained as either a witness or a consultant) can assist the attorney

#### 1 • 14 A DISPUTE RESOLUTION PRIMER

during the examination, particularly of people in the financial or accounting areas. Attorneys also ask the expert for assistance at a deposition of the opposition's expert. The expert knows the language of business and can often detect a witness's uninformative answer or a sign of weakness that the attorney might miss. The expert can suggest additional questions to the attorney by passing notes or by discussions during breaks in the deposition. In this way, the expert can help identify an inconsistency, suggest a follow-up question, or expose a flaw in the testimony. Although the expert has no right to attend another expert's deposition, the attorneys will often agree on an attendance policy for all depositions.

Even when the financial expert does not attend the deposition, the attorney often will request the expert to provide questions for the attorney to ask. These questions have two aims: (1) to clarify the opinions the opposing expert is likely to express at trial and the analytical work that supports it, and (2) to point out problems, inconsistencies, and errors in the analysis.

Some lawyers do not want to alert the witness to analytical flaws during the deposition. They prefer to hold this information for use at the trial. Others prefer to use the deposition to point out the weaknesses in their opponent's case, thus encouraging settlement or, at a minimum, forcing the expert to correct the analysis before use at the trial. The expert should ascertain which approach the lawyer wants to use prior to the deposition.

#### (i) Discovery—Subpoenas

Most often, parties comply with requests for documents and witness appearances. For those situations where a party does not cooperate with such requests, the attorney can use a subpoena to compel such cooperation. The subpoena *ad testificandum* commands a person to appear and testify as a witness. The subpoena *duces tecum* commands a person to produce documents. Practice varies by jurisdiction: serving a subpoena on a party or an expert can be an insult in one forum; failing to do so can constitute malpractice in another.

Frequently, only the subpoena can extract information from third parties not related to the litigation. The court can hold an uncooperative recipient of a subpoena in contempt and impose sanctions as severe as incarceration.

Any party or subpoena recipient, including the expert, can object to a subpoena, thus requiring a hearing on the relevance and propriety of materials demanded. An expert who objects to a subpoena for documents might thereby delay the trial and generate costly legal fees. Sometimes, however, the expert must object, as when a subpoena requests material related to other clients. Often the opposing attorneys agree on how much they will try to discover from the experts and thereby avoid unproductive controversy.

The opposing counsel may wish to explore the records of other nonparty clients of the experts using the subpoena and deposition process. CPAs must avoid violating Ethics Rule 301 of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) Code of Professional Conduct, which requires the CPA to maintain client confidentiality with past as well as current clients. Because CPAs have a duty to comply only with a validly issued subpoena, many choose to test the subpoena's validity before revealing confidential client information.

#### (j) Trial

(i) Opening Statements For a jury trial, the court and attorneys first pick the jury. Each side's attorney then makes an opening statement. The attorneys explain the issues of the case as they view them, the conclusions that the trier of fact should reach on these issues, and the evidence they will present.

The attorney uses this time to educate the trier of fact about the entire case. Although the opening statement does not present evidence, some observers believe that many cases turn on opening statements.

(ii) Plaintiff's Case The plaintiff carries the burden of proof at trial and in most civil cases must meet the standard of a preponderance of the evidence, 51 percent in layman's terms. The plaintiff presents its case first. Normally, witnesses present evidence, and the normal process of examination proceeds as discussed in the following sections.

(iii) Direct Examination Direct examination is the first examination of a witness by the attorney who calls the witness. During this question-and-answer session, the plaintiff must introduce the evidence that proves its case.

Formal rules of evidence apply, and the opposing counsel can object to defective questions or to questions intended to elicit inadmissible evidence; the judge can either allow the question or sustain the objection.

Experts serve themselves and their clients well if they understand the typical grounds for objection. Such grounds include questions that call for hearsay evidence or lead the witness, or testimony that misstates prior testimony or assumes facts not in evidence. As with the rules of evidence, understanding the elements of proper questioning can help the expert provide clear and accurate testimony that the court will respect.

(iv) Cross-Examination Cross-examination is the first examination of a witness by the attorney for the opposing party. It immediately follows the end of direct examination. The opposing side will try to discredit the witness or to obtain evidence favorable to its case.

In principle, opposing attorneys must limit cross-examination to issues raised in the direct examination of the witness. If attorneys for the opposing side wish to raise other issues, they must call the witness as an adverse witness in their own case and then conduct direct examination. Some judges, however, allow fairly wide cross-examination, particularly of expert witnesses.

Unlike direct examination, cross-examination rules permit leading questions—those that suggest a particular answer or those whose answer will be "yes" or "no." In addition, the opposing attorney can read (if germane) prior deposition or other testimony or writings of the witness into the record in an attempt to impeach the witness. Courts increasingly use video to replace reading from a deposition transcript.

(v) Redirect Examination Redirect examination immediately follows cross-examination of a witness. Rules of procedure limit redirect examination to issues raised on cross-examination. An attorney who forgets to ask about a matter on direct examination cannot raise the matter for the first time during redirect examination unless it relates to issues raised in the cross-examination. In redirect examination, counsel tries to rehabilitate the witness if necessary and possible or, if

#### 1 • 16 A DISPUTE RESOLUTION PRIMER

applicable, to demonstrate that the cross-examining attorney has treated the witness unfairly or employed artifice in an attempt to mislead the jury.

(vi) Recross-Examination Recross-examination immediately follows redirect examination, and the attorney must limit it to issues raised in the redirect examination. Recross-examination normally has a narrow scope. In theory, iterations of re-redirect and re-recross can proceed indefinitely. In practice, few judges have the patience to permit such back-and-forth, and most lawyers know better than to test that patience.

(vii) Defendant's Case The plaintiff will present all of its witnesses and exhibits before the defendant begins its case. When the plaintiff rests, the defendant can request a directed verdict, discussed in Section 1.3(k)(iv) of this chapter. Unless the judge grants such a motion, the defendant presents all of its witnesses. The examination proceeds as described previously in (iii) through (vi) for the plaintiff's case.

If the defendant believes that the plaintiff has not proved its case but no directed verdict has been granted, it can decide against presenting a case and simply rest. The defendant in these circumstances hopes it has made its case through cross-examination and recross-examination of the plaintiff's witnesses. Attorneys usually find this strategy difficult and ineffective because most of the plaintiff's witnesses will prove hostile to the defendant's positions. In the words of an experienced trial attorney, "If your best defense is that the plaintiff hasn't carried his burden, you need another defense."

(viii) Plaintiff's Rebuttal Case After the defendant rests its case, the plaintiff has a chance to rebut the defendant's case. This occurs through witnesses and documents as described previously in (vii) for the defendant's case. The plaintiff must limit the rebuttal's scope to issues raised in the defendant's case. Some judges and jurisdictions do not allow a rebuttal case. Experts often participate in rebuttal when the defendant has sufficiently discredited the plaintiff's damages theory or study so that the plaintiff must present a revised damages study to address the problems raised by the defendant.

- (ix) Defendant's Surrebuttal Case Some jurisdictions permit the defendant to respond to issues raised by the plaintiff's rebuttal case. Courts refer to this response as surrebuttal and restrict it to issues raised in the plaintiff's rebuttal case. Other jurisdictions do not allow surrebuttal or leave it to the judge's discretion.
- (x) Closing Arguments Once both sides have rested, the plaintiff (in a civil trial) will make its closing arguments first, followed by the defendant. The attorney will summarize the evidence from the trial record and try to persuade the trier of fact why his or her client should prevail.
- (xi) Post-Trial Briefs and Findings of Fact The judge often will ask the attorneys to file briefs summarizing points that the lawyers think they have proved and the relevant law that the court should apply to the case. This helps the judge write an opinion in a bench trial (i.e., a trial heard only by a judge without a jury).

These briefs contain suggested findings of fact and conclusions of law. Experts sometimes assist the lawyer in drafting a portion of the brief, particularly the part summarizing the expert's testimony. The findings of fact must refer only to evidence admitted in the trial. The facts must be part of the record in the trial and cannot result from new or objectionable evidence.

#### (k) Types of Outcomes

(i) Verdict The verdict is the decision rendered by a jury (or a judge in a bench trial). It presents the formal decision or finding made by a jury and reported to the court upon the matters or questions submitted to them at trial. The jury can render a general verdict or a special verdict. In a general verdict, the jury finds in favor of the plaintiff or defendant on all issues. In special verdicts, the jury decides only the facts of the case and leaves the decisions on the application of the law up to the judge. A special verdict results when a jury must make separate decisions as to different issues in the case. This most often occurs through interrogatories to the jury.

(ii) Judgment A judgment is the court's official decision as to the rights and claims of the litigants. If the court (i.e., the judge) accepts the jury's verdict, that verdict becomes the judgment. In almost all cases, the judge makes this judgment with no further comment or opinion. If the court does not accept the jury's verdict, the judge can make a judgment, as explained later in (v). If the judge is the trier of fact, the judge's decision becomes the judgment.

(iii) Opinion Judges will state the reasons for their decision and their understanding of the application of the relevant law. These writings, if appealed and sustained, become the precedents that form the basis for court-made law in our judicial system.

In some cases, a party asks the judge to rule on part or all of the case even before the trial begins. The party moving for such a *summary judgment* argues that even if all the facts alleged by the opponent hold true, no triable issue of law exists. In other words, the facts alleged do not violate the laws or legal rights asserted by the opponent. Even though full dismissal of an action on motion for summary judgment occurs rarely (many judges have a bias in favor of allowing parties their day in court), they often prove effective in paring away pieces of an action, reducing the complexity, required time, and, of course, cost of an ensuing trial. Additionally, many attorneys believe they can educate the judge to their perspective in the case, creating a more favorable starting point for them at trial.

(iv) Directed Verdict At the close of the plaintiff's case, the defendant requests a directed verdict when the defendant believes the plaintiff has not proved its case either factually or as a matter of law. If the judge grants the directed verdict, the case concludes (although the judgment can be appealed, like any other) and the defendant does not have to present its case.

(v) Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict In a jury trial, the jury decides the case and renders a verdict. Before the court (i.e., the judge) accepts the verdict, the losing party can request—or the judge can volunteer—a decision contrary to the verdict rendered by the jury. In effect, the court does not accept the verdict of the jury and renders an opposite decision. This is called a *judgment notwithstanding the verdict* or *judgment non obstante veredicto* (*judgment n.o.v.*).

#### (I) Appeal

A losing party in a trial who believes that the court has committed an error at the trial can appeal to a superior court to reverse the decision of the lower court. The appeals court does not offer a forum for a new trial of the facts. The appeals court

#### 1 • 18 A DISPUTE RESOLUTION PRIMER

will accept the record of the original trial court and decide whether the lower court committed any legal error in procedure or reasoning. Because the appeals focus on analysis of law rather than facts, experts rarely assist in this phase.

#### 1.4 THE ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCESS

#### (a) Definition and Overview

Alternative dispute resolution (ADR) refers to processes for resolving a dispute between two or more parties other than through formal litigation in a court system. Several formats can resolve disputes outside of litigation; these range from enforceable determinations by a third party to facilitated negotiations between the parties. The most common forms of ADR are arbitration (an enforceable determination) and mediation (a facilitated settlement). Alternatives to the court system for resolving disputes have existed at least since 1925, when Congress passed legislation recognizing the right of parties to agree to resolve disputes using arbitration. Since that date, the use of ADR has increased.

Parties now use ADR for any type of dispute, and it has become the most common method for resolving certain issues, such as construction disputes and disputes under purchase agreements in corporate acquisitions.

Most contracts now include a dispute resolution clause specifying one or more forms of ADR. Exhibit 1-1 lists the elements that such clauses include. Parties often use ADR after formal litigation has commenced, often because of prodding by the judge. Court-ordered, nonbinding mediation has almost become the rule as judges face increasingly overcrowded dockets.

- Specification of the types of disputes the clause covers
- Limitations on what the parties can claim in a dispute and the available remedies
- Method of resolution (litigation or ADR, and type of ADR)
- Procedures for resolution (timelines, discovery, use of experts, hearings, etc.)
- Method for selecting the neutral(s) and identification of the neutral(s)
- Other possible elements:
  - Limitations on what disputes can be brought (e.g., time limitations)
  - Confidentiality of the facts of the dispute and the resolution of the dispute
  - Choice of law (if not otherwise covered in the contract)
  - Form for reporting the decision
  - Binding or appealable nature of the decision

The elements shown here relate to arbitration within the United States. For international arbitration matters, the clause should also include a discussion of the language in which the arbitration will be conducted, the governing law for the contract, the seat of the arbitration (which will determine the procedural law for the proceeding), the venue (location of the arbitration), and the composition of the tribunal.

#### (b) Advantages and Disadvantages of ADR

ADR offers several potential advantages over litigation. Many people think that it achieves results more quickly, less expensively, and less disruptively. As ADR has matured and its users have become more sophisticated, not all ADR methods provide these advantages. Certain features of ADR that practitioners often consider advantages often depend on one's position in the dispute. For example, lack of punitive damages in ADR gives an advantage to the defendant at the expense of the plaintiff.

Other features distinguish ADR from litigation. These vary depending on the type of ADR and include the following:

- Consent of parties. Parties initiate ADR only by mutual consent, often granted in an underlying contract. They cannot draw third parties involuntarily into the proceeding.
- **Confidentiality.** Parties to ADR can choose to make the content of the proceedings, the outcome, and even the facts of the dispute confidential.
- Flexibility. ADR has more flexibility than litigation and affords the parties more control, such as selecting the decision makers, establishing the procedures, and crafting the solutions. Parties can select decision makers with specialized expertise relevant to the dispute. The parties can choose the procedures or allow the decision maker to establish procedures.

A greater range of available remedies exists, although ADR seldom offers interim remedies (e.g., precluding a party from selling in a specific location until a final resolution of the dispute). Solutions can consider ongoing business relations: parties, for example, can structure settlements involving future adjustments to their relationship rather than a one-time payment of damages. This fact, and the generally less adversarial nature of ADR, can help preserve business relations.

- **Discovery.** ADR typically provides for less (if any) discovery.
- **Precedent.** Decisions relate only to the dispute at hand and create no precedent. Decision makers can consider precedent in making determinations but are not required to do so.
- **Appealing a decision.** Parties have limited or no ability to challenge an outcome and decision makers are less accountable than in litigation.
- Enforceability. The different types of ADR create differing powers to enforce an award.

ADR creates certain unique advantages in international disputes. When the parties come from different countries, the use of international arbitration removes possible local bias and a need to proceed under unfamiliar rules and in a foreign language. When the dispute involves a state or parastatal entity, international arbitration enables a sovereign nation to avoid submission to the laws and courts of another country. Arbitration eliminates the possibility that a foreign investor has to dispute a government body in a national court where that same government appointed the judges. As a result of the New York Convention on the Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Arbitral Awards (adopted in 1959 and ratified by the U.S. Congress in 1970), parties often find it easier to enforce an international arbitration award than an award rendered by a national court. Signatories

#### 1 • 20 A DISPUTE RESOLUTION PRIMER

to the convention recognize and enforce both agreements to arbitrate and arbitral awards. The award recipient can attach a judgment loser's property located in a country that is a signatory to the convention.

#### 1.5 FORMS OF ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION

#### (a) Arbitration

(i) Description Arbitration is probably the most common of alternative dispute resolution mechanisms. Arbitration typically involves the appointment of one or more neutral individuals<sup>8</sup> to adjudicate rights and act as a decision maker. The parties can enter into arbitration voluntarily after a dispute arises, or a contractual arrangement between the parties can require such participation.<sup>9</sup> Without a contractual requirement, one party cannot compel another to participate in arbitration; one cannot unilaterally institute arbitration.

The arbitrator has the authority to decide the dispute, including issues of fact and law, and to issue an award. Arbitrators base their decisions on the parties' legal rights and obligations (determined by contract and applicable law). Most arbitrations lead to final and binding decisions, and few circumstances allow for a challenge to an award in arbitration.

(ii) Procedures Arbitration provides flexibility regarding deadlines and timing, the amount and nature of discovery, the number of arbitrators, the selection of the arbitrators, the nature of hearings before the arbitrator, whether the arbitrator provides an explanation for the final decision, and so on. The arbitrator establishes procedures not specified in the contract or not mutually agreed on, often with input from the parties, but taking into account the governing laws. Domestic arbitrations often use standard procedures such as those recommended by the International Institute for Conflict Prevention & Resolution (CPR Institute) or the American Arbitration Association (AAA); these provide comprehensive guidelines and increase predictability. International arbitral institutions, such as the International Chamber of Commerce (ICC) and the London Court of International Arbitration (LCIA), have standing rules for cases under their administration. For arbitrations that such organizations do not administer (referred to as ad hoc), the parties can develop their own procedures or can adopt procedures published by organizations such as the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law (UNCITRAL). Section 1.7 discusses the rules used in international arbitrations.

(iii) Mechanics The mechanics of arbitration include many of the elements of litigation, such as hearings, discovery, and written submissions, but arbitration limits the scope of these elements and increases the involvement of the adjudicator. At the outset, the arbitrator will work with the parties to clarify procedures, set a schedule, and define the issues and facts in dispute. Discovery is typically more limited in arbitration compared with litigation. Discovery involves an exchange of hard-copy documents but normally does not include electronic discovery. Witnesses provide written statements but do not always give depositions. The parties' written submissions—submitted simultaneously in certain cases—state their positions comprehensively.

The final arbitration hearing (when there is one)<sup>10</sup> has many of the same elements as a court trial. One difference lies in testimony: witness statements can substitute for direct testimony, resulting in brief or no direct testimony, and the witnesses appear at the hearing primarily for cross-examination and examination by the arbitrator. Parties often submit post-hearing briefs. Months often pass between the conclusion of the proceedings and the arbitrator's decision. The arbitrator can communicate the decision as only the final numeric result or as a "reasoned" award that reflects not only the final decision but also the basis for that decision in some detail.

#### (b) Mediation

(i) Description Mediation is another common ADR procedure. Mediation involves the use of a neutral third party to facilitate the parties' negotiations. The mediator renders no decision and has no authority to impose any outcome on the parties, who retain decision-making authority and remain responsible for resolving the dispute. This voluntary process requires the cooperation of the parties. As with arbitration, however, contractual obligations can require that a party participate in mediation. Additionally, judges can order litigating parties to participate in mediation. No requirement exists, however, that mediation continue until the parties resolve the dispute. As a result, mediation does not carry the risks of arbitration or litigation, because failure to resolve the dispute has no consequences other than lost time.

(ii) Mechanics Mediation involves a less formal process than arbitration and thus requires less time and money. 11 The individuals attending a mediation include one or more representatives of each party (for best results, the representative should have authority to resolve the dispute), counsel for each of the parties, and the mediator. Even though fact witnesses normally do not attend, it is becoming more common for expert witnesses to attend.

The mediator's particular style will govern the process used at mediation. Regardless of style, the mediator needs to maintain control over the proceedings. The typical mediation includes a meeting with all the parties, after which the mediator separates them and has a series of private discussions with each. Occasionally, the mediator will hold additional joint sessions.

During the opening joint session, each party outlines its understanding of the facts giving rise to the dispute, its assessments of its legal rights, and any claims it is making. In some mediations, dialogue between the parties occurs at this opening joint session. During the private caucuses, the mediator evaluates each party's position in more detail. To be effective, the mediator must listen carefully to the arguments of the parties and evaluate unspoken motivations or hidden agendas. The mediator obtains additional information to assess the strengths and weaknesses of each party's positions, identifies areas in which each party could be willing to concede or negotiate, identifies nonstarters (i.e., areas that the parties refuse to concede), and presents the arguments of the opposing parties. The mediator then shifts to evaluative mediation to offer his or her assessment of the relative strengths and weaknesses of the parties' arguments and the likely outcome were the parties to litigate.

#### 1 • 22 A DISPUTE RESOLUTION PRIMER

Through this process, the mediator attempts to find or create common ground between the parties, identify mutually beneficial solutions, and facilitate a settlement. A persistent and creative mediator can work through impasses and help the parties conclude the matter.

Multiple parties can participate in mediation. The mediation can resolve the dispute between some, but not all, of the parties or can resolve some, but not all, of the issues in dispute. Any of the parties can withdraw from the mediation at any time.

(iii) Resolution of the Dispute The mediator can base the proposed solution on business interests in addition to (or as opposed to) legal obligations. The parties can design the solution, which can also address business issues beyond the scope of the dispute. The parties to the dispute must negotiate with each other (directly or through the mediator) to resolve the dispute, rather than convince an arbitrator of their legal rights and their understanding of the facts. The outcome of the mediation is not binding unless the parties enter into a settlement agreement. Mediation facilitates ongoing business relations better than litigation and arbitration do because it minimizes the adversarial aspect and requires less time.

Mediation might not resolve the dispute. The parties typically agree that information revealed during the course of mediation remains confidential and parties cannot use it for any other purpose, including subsequent arbitration<sup>12</sup> or litigation, if the mediation fails to achieve a settlement. Similarly, if the mediation leads to resolution, parties cannot make the outcome public without an agreement to do so.

#### (c) Other Forms of ADR

Other ADR mechanisms include private judging, early neutral fact finding or evaluation, summary jury trials, mini-trials, and moderated settlement conferences. Parties can develop whatever variations suit their situation. These other forms of ADR resemble mediation more than they do arbitration in that each method aims to facilitate a negotiated settlement between the disputing parties, rather than to have an independent party determine the outcome. Nonetheless, a third party participates in each of these, with roles varying from evaluating the parties' positions to simply moderating their discussions.

Often, a dispute resolution clause will include a combination of mechanisms that the parties execute simultaneously or sequentially. Similarly, a judge presiding over a litigation matter could require that the parties employ a combination of mechanisms in an effort to resolve the dispute. For example, a judge presiding over a litigation matter could order the following sequence of alternatives:

- The parties must first participate in nonbinding arbitration. The arbitration
  does not aim to resolve the dispute but to provide information to the disputing
  parties as to how an arbitrator views their liability and damages arguments.
- The judge then has the parties proceed to nonbinding mediation. The judge expects that the arbitrator's perspective will increase the likelihood of resolving the dispute at mediation.
- Failing a resolution at that stage, the parties can return to court and proceed with the litigation.

The following gives a brief overview of other forms of ADR:

- **Private judging** involves the use of independent third parties, typically former judges, in the role of judges. These independent third parties preside over private trials and render nonbinding judgments.
- Early neutral fact finding or evaluation involves appointing neutral experts
   (on law, financial matters, industry issues, and so on, as appropriate for the
   situation) to evaluate and analyze facts and data and report their findings
   to the parties. The fact finders' assessments often include their views on the
   likely outcome at trial; these perspectives often improve settlement discussions.
- Summary jury trials are abbreviated trials presented to mock juries. The
  juries render a nonbinding decision, which the judges use to facilitate settlement discussions.
- Mini-trials form a panel consisting of representatives with decision-making authority from each of the disputing parties and, in some cases, an independent third party. Counsels for the parties argue their case before the panel. The panel then attempts to negotiate a settlement, moderated by the independent third party. The mini-trial forum resulted from efforts to involve businesspeople early in the resolution of commercial disputes. The mini-trial is a short trial, usually no longer than a day. The process does not bind the parties, nor can they use information learned in the proceeding in a subsequent trial on the issues in dispute. The mini-trial has no formal rules of procedure or evidence. Each lawyer presents arguments or a few witnesses. When each side has heard the best arguments of the other, the decision makers discuss the case, with no lawyers present, in an attempt to resolve the dispute.

The mini-trial has proved most successful when a commercial settlement seems feasible, the parties share an interest in their ongoing relations, and the parties retain a facilitator or pseudo-judge to conduct the proceeding. The independent third party is often a retired judge or a person experienced in the industry. The facilitator has no power to decide the matter but can ask questions of the parties, meet individually with them, and lead the discussion between them, giving an informed view of the strengths and weaknesses in each side's case. The International Institute for Conflict Prevention & Resolution (CPR Institute)<sup>13</sup> has a list of individuals qualified to serve in the role of facilitator.

• Moderated settlement conferences are negotiations moderated by independent parties, often judges. Moderators facilitate the discussions and often share their evaluation of the parties' positions and arguments.

#### 1.6 DOMESTIC ADR

#### (a) Rules Governing the Use of ADR

A substantial body of law governs the conduct of litigation in U.S. courts. Even though ADR offers more flexibility than litigation does, a similar, though narrower, basis in statute and common law supports ADR. Congress enacted the Federal Arbitration Act in 1925. This act recognized the right of parties to agree

#### 1 • 24 A DISPUTE RESOLUTION PRIMER

to resolve disputes using arbitration—including binding arbitration, which limits the right to appeal an arbitrator's decision— and recognized written arbitration agreements as enforceable in federal courts. It allowed a judge to stay a litigation and refer the case to arbitration. The act granted various authorizations related to private arbitration; these include authorization of the courts to appoint arbitrators under certain circumstances and to grant certain powers to the arbitrator(s). Additionally, the act recognized arbitration awards, rendering them enforceable in federal court, and established the circumstances under which courts could set aside awards.

In response to increased reliance on ADR to resolve disputes, Congress in 1990 passed the Civil Justice Reform Act and the Administrative Dispute Resolution Act, which addressed the use of ADR with the federal government. In 1998, Congress passed the Alternative Dispute Resolution Act. This act granted courts the power to use ADR in all civil matters and provided related directives and guidance to the courts. As a supplement to federal arbitration laws, individual states have enacted arbitration laws, most of which add detail to the procedural aspects of the Federal Arbitration Act.

In addition to legislation, various interested bodies have established standard procedures for conducting ADR, as well as established codes of conduct for those serving as neutrals. Entities involved in ADR and the standard-setting processes include the AAA, the American Bar Association (ABA), the CPR Institute, the Society of Professionals in Dispute Resolution (SPIDR), and Judicial Arbitration and Mediation Services (JAMS).

Procedural rules established by these organizations address topics such as commencement of the dispute resolution process, appointing the neutral(s) (including the number and qualifications), authority of the neutral(s), confidentiality of the proceedings, conduct of the proceedings (including submissions, hearings, etc.), and the award.

Three organizations<sup>14</sup> collaborated to establish the Code of Ethics for Arbitrators in Commercial Disputes. They designed the code to ensure fairness and integrity in the arbitration process. The elements of this code include disclosure of any relation that might impair impartiality, prohibition of *ex parte* communications, maintaining confidentiality, and clear and complete communication of the award. Model standards for mediators<sup>15</sup> include:

- Recognition that mediation is a process of self-determination by the parties,
- Disclosure of any potential conflicts of interest,
- Serving only when qualified,
- Impartiality, and
- Confidentiality.

Arbitrators and mediators should comply with any other standards applicable to the forum or their profession.

#### (b) The Neutral

The parties have the right to decide the number (normally either one or three) and identity of neutral third parties. In disputes that have three neutrals, the parties

will choose a chairperson. If the parties do not make a decision within a particular time period or cannot reach agreement related to the neutrals, the organization (such as the AAA) administering the resolution process will select the neutral(s) according to its rules. Many of these organizations have standing panels of qualified neutrals. Any neutral must be independent of the parties to the dispute, must have no vested interest in the outcome, and must demonstrate objectivity. One should consider the specific skills or expertise required of the neutral. Most cases require a background in law, as the legal rights and obligations of the parties often determine a fair decision. In some cases, however, specialized industry or technical knowledge has importance. For example, a post-acquisition purchase price dispute would require that the neutral understand accounting.

When not otherwise specified by the parties (by agreement or through adoption of certain institutional procedures), the neutral has the right to establish the timetable; administrative procedures; the extent of discovery; the nature, number, and timing of submissions; and the nature of the information communicated in rendering the decision. In most cases, neutrals can engage their own independent experts, although this rarely occurs. Apart from engaging their own experts, neutrals do not perform their own research but rather rely on information that the parties present.

#### (c) The Role of Experts

Parties will typically engage experts to evaluate financial issues in the dispute, similar to the use of experts in litigation matters. These issues most frequently involve damages claimed. Experts can also perform financial analysis and related fact finding to help establish the facts supporting liability arguments. In addition to fact finding through a review of the accounting, financial, and related records, many professionals have skills in investigations or specific industry expertise that enable them to find information not produced through discovery.

The specific analysis employed by experts will rely on established damages theory or financial analysis practices and will not vary based on the forum for resolving the dispute. <sup>16</sup> Arbitration's limited discovery reduces the experts' access to information compared with that of litigation; they often have to rely more heavily on data of comparable companies, industry data, or reasonable assumptions rather than company-specific information. Experts present the information to a neutral, rather than a jury, and should tailor the communications accordingly. Experts have less opportunity to explain the analysis through testimony, so their reports should clarify the analysis and results. In any case, the expert should consult with the client's legal counsel on these matters.

As mentioned, neutrals sometimes engage independent experts to perform analyses and advise them on technical matters. The expert should perform the analysis as if working for one of the disputants, although the needs of the neutral will determine the nature of communications.

Experts can also serve in the role of a neutral. This would most likely occur when the dispute focuses on financial or accounting issues rather than legal issues. In this case, the expert will evaluate the parties' submissions and make a final determination in the dispute.

#### 1 • 26 A DISPUTE RESOLUTION PRIMER

#### 1.7 INTERNATIONAL ARBITRATION

#### (a) Differences from Domestic Arbitration

The rules of procedure and evidence in international arbitration cases can vary from those of arbitrations in the United States. Most arbitral institutions give flexibility to the parties and to the arbitral tribunal to tailor procedures for each dispute. Depending on the parties, the arbitrators, and the place of arbitration (referred to as the seat), the rules can contain elements from various legal systems around the world—common law, civil law, and other traditions. Different rules often affect elements such as discovery and the expert's duty. The influence of civil law limits international discovery more than that of U.S. litigation and even that of U.S. domestic arbitration. Some cases exchange only documents on which the owners of the documents intend to rely in building their affirmative case. Outside the United States, arbitrations use depositions rarely or never, relying instead on written evidence rather than oral testimony. Individual states' data protection acts also affect the extent of discovery and the ability to use certain data.<sup>17</sup>

#### (b) Rules Governing International Arbitration

To prove effective as dispute resolution mechanisms, arbitrations need the force of law: the results must be binding and the awards enforceable. Most countries have national laws that give arbitrations such authority, and many have entered into treaties that support arbitration. Finally, many countries have entered into multistate conventions that address the resolution of disputes and the enforcement of related awards. For example, more than 140 countries have signed the 1959 New York Convention on the Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Arbitral Awards, under which the signatory states have agreed to recognize arbitral awards as binding and to enforce them according to the rules of procedures of the territory that enforces the award.

The rules of procedure and evidence vary in each case. The International Bar Association has issued rules of evidence for use in international disputes, which international arbitrations often use.

Various institutions that administer arbitrations, listed in Section 1.7(c), have established procedural rules for the conduct of arbitrations. These rules also provide a framework in which a tribunal can set procedures and timetables for each case.

An arbitration proceeding fully administered by one of the arbitral institutions provides more certainty and less opportunity for disagreement surrounding procedures. These institutions periodically update their procedures to incorporate their experience in administering arbitrations, so the procedures address most issues that will likely arise. An arbitration conducted under institutional rules can have more credibility and, under certain circumstances, will facilitate the enforcement of an award. Arbitrations most often use the procedures propounded by the ICC, the LCIA, and the International Center for Dispute Resolution (ICDR), the international branch of the AAA. Most institutional rules include provisions related to the following items:

- Powers and authority of the institutional administrator;
- Commencement of the proceedings;

- Appointment of the tribunal, including challenges to an appointed arbitrator;
- Presentation of evidence;18
- Powers of the arbitrator(s); and
- Methods for deciding the language of, site of, and applicable law for the arbitration.

In ad hoc arbitrations that an institution does not administer, the parties have greater flexibility to create their own rules and process. Although this maximizes flexibility and autonomy, it creates a risk of slowing progress if the parties cannot reach agreement as to how the arbitration will proceed. Both the CPR Institute and UNCITRAL have developed procedures for use in ad hoc arbitrations. The CPR Institute developed the CPR Rules for International Non-Administered Arbitration. UNCITRAL adopted arbitration rules in 1976.

The UN General Assembly established UNCITRAL in 1966 to reduce obstacles to the flow of trade. UNCITRAL arbitration rules provide a comprehensive set of procedural rules for conducting arbitral proceedings; these rules blend common law and civil law features. Ad hoc arbitrations and some administered arbitrations use these rules.

#### (c) Arbitral Institutions

Numerous arbitral institutions administer international arbitrations and have their own procedural rules:

- AAA/ICDR—New York and Dublin
- British Columbia International Commercial Arbitration Centre (BCICAC)— Vancouver
- Cairo Regional Centre for International Commercial Arbitration (CRCICA)— Cairo
- China International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission (CIETAC)—Beijing
- Deutsche Institution für Schiedsgerichtsbarkeit (German Institution of Arbitration; DIS)—Frankfurt
- Hong Kong International Arbitration Centre (HKIA)—Hong Kong
- Inter-American Commercial Arbitration Commission (ICAC)
- International Chamber of Commerce International Court of Arbitration (ICC)—Paris
- International Centre for the Settlement of Investment Disputes (ICSID)—Washington, D.C.
- London Court of International Arbitration (LCIA)—London
- Netherlands Arbitration Institute (NAI)—Rotterdam
- Stockholm Chamber of Commerce (SCC)—Stockholm
- Singapore International Arbitration Centre (SIAC)—Singapore

Of these institutions, disputants most frequently use the ICC, LCIA, ICDR, and SCC. Over half of the cases heard by the ICC have disputed amounts in excess of \$1 million. ICC arbitrations offer the most supervised of arbitration proceedings. In addition to its arbitration rules, banks apply the rules of the ICC's Uniform

#### 1 • 28 A DISPUTE RESOLUTION PRIMER

Customs and Practice for Documentary Credits (UCP 500) to finance billions of dollars' worth of annual world trade.

#### (d) Arbitration with a State or Parastatal Entity

Resolving a dispute with a governmental entity presents special challenges. Section 1.7(b) discusses the advantages of resolving such a dispute through arbitration rather than a local court system. These disputes arise either from a direct contractual relation with the state or through guarantees or other commitments provided in an investment treaty.

(i) Investment Treaties Investment treaties are agreements between two or more state governments that govern the terms of the economic interactions between the states. Investment treaties protect and encourage investment between companies in the signatory countries so as to facilitate cross-border investment. Bilateral investment treaties involve two states, and multilateral investment treaties involve three or more states.

These treaties provide an important right and protection for private company investors: the right to sue the host government. Foreign investors can use the dispute resolution terms contained in the investment treaty even if the contractual agreements underlying their transactions do not address a dispute resolution mechanism or contradict the mechanism laid out in the investment treaty. If an investment treaty contains an agreement to arbitrate investment disputes, the treaty itself normally constitutes the host state's consent to an arbitration.

(ii) Rules for Investment Treaty Arbitration Most investment treaties specify the rules for arbitrations. Most treaties will suggest ICSID arbitration or ad hoc arbitration using UNCITRAL rules.

The Washington Convention on the Settlement of Investment Disputes between States and Nationals of Other States established the ICSID in 1965. As the title of the convention implies, it aimed to resolve investment-related disputes between a state and a national of another state. ICSID is a part of the World Bank.

Approximately 140 countries have signed the convention. Signatory countries agree to recognize and enforce the obligations imposed by ICSID awards. This applies to any ICSID award, whether or not it involves the particular signatory.

#### (e) The Tribunal

In most international arbitrations, the parties determine the size and composition of the arbitral tribunal. Most often, they use a three-member panel: each side proposes one arbitrator (who should serve in an unbiased manner even though selected by one of the parties), and these two members of the panel or the arbitral institution selects a third arbitrator to be a neutral chairman. The chairman is usually a lawyer. The other members are often also attorneys or have a particular technical expertise (e.g., accountant or engineer).

#### (f) The Role of Experts

Experts in an international arbitration perform the same tasks as those of domestic arbitration, with some additional considerations. They will need to understand

in each case to whom they owe their duty and to check whether any special rules exist (arising from either the tribunal or the seat of the arbitration) that might govern the conduct of the assignment.

Just as attorneys work with local counsel, experts who lack experience in the local country should consider working with someone in the country where the transactions and dispute occurred. A local contact can provide insight into the local culture and business practices, will understand local tax and accounting rules and regulations (and therefore be better able to interpret and evaluate locally prepared financial information), will know how to locate publicly available information, and will have familiarity with local laws for CPA licenses. A local contact should also know the local data protection laws.

When preparing financial models, other issues come into play in the international arena. For example, one must consider the choice of currency or the timing of currency conversions. Discount rates should reflect political risk.

An expert in international arbitration will usually have to produce a written report of the evidence, explaining the approach, method adopted, evidence seen, and conclusions reached. Sometimes the experts appointed by each side will meet before the hearing and produce a joint report that sets out the areas of agreement and disagreement in their evidence. Some arbitrations use witness conferencing. Most often, the expert will not participate in a deposition. If a tribunal appoints the expert, each of the disputing parties will cross-examine the expert at the final hearing.

#### 1.8 CONCLUSION

This chapter has provided an overview of the process and terminology that the expert faces when acting as an expert witness or consultant in litigation or participates in a form of alternative dispute resolution.

Preparing a complex commercial litigation for trial requires experts to accomplish many tasks. They can bring training and expertise to an adversarial proceeding that will challenge and scrutinize their conclusions. The balance of this book discusses the specific types of cases and approaches that the expert will face and employ.

ADR has become common for resolving disputes; it is increasing in popularity both domestically and internationally. As a result, governments and private arbitral organizations have implemented legislation, procedural rules, codes of conduct for arbitrators and mediators, international investment treaties, international conventions, and foreign legislation in support of this dispute resolution process. Many participants perceive ADR as superior to litigation as a method for resolving disputes. Some of those advantages depend on one's vantage point. Parties need to understand the ADR process to realize its advantages.

In ADR, an expert can serve in the role of an expert for one of the parties, or as a neutral expert assisting the arbitrator, or as the neutral individual who adjudicates the disputed items and acts as a decision maker. The expert can face different procedures for resolving the dispute and a different manner for communicating the results of analysis in ADR. The nature of the analysis and the method of approaching the analysis remain the same as those of a dispute resolved through litigation.

### 1 • 30 A DISPUTE RESOLUTION PRIMER

### NOTES

- 1. This Rule 702 qualification discussion and the disclosure discussions of Federal Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 26(a)(2) that follow are based on federal court requirements. Most states follow procedures that are similar from a practical point of view, but experts must ensure that they know the standards of the venue in which they will work.
- 2. *Voir dire*, as relevant here, is the procedure by which courts, on their own or a party's motion, hear evidence on whether experts and their opinions are of a standard sufficient to qualify as admissible.
- 3. Equitable actions are those in which the plaintiff seeks an equitable remedy: a non-monetary order by the court such as issuance of an injunction, the reformation of a contract, the setting aside of corporate liability protection to look through to an owner acting as alter ego, or some similar adjustment of the parties' relationship. They are not based on the common law, but on the court's determination of how to achieve fairness in a particular situation. The contrast is to legal actions, which seek remedies in the form of monetary damages. Until the early twentieth century, many jurisdictions maintained separate courts of law and equity. Today, jurisdictions preserve that distinction rarely, the most prominent example being the Delaware Court of Chancery.
- 4. On matters of federal law, the rulings of each circuit's court of appeals establish precedent within that circuit and, with weaker effect, advisory weight in those other circuits that have not ruled on the issue. When a matter has reached the circuit court due to diversity and, by operation of law or contract, is subject to state rather than federal law, the circuit's ruling carries considerably less predictive value because the ultimate arbiter of a given state's laws is the highest court of appeals within that state.
- 5. Experts are sometimes hired to aid a disputant on a contested matter before it becomes the subject of a formal dispute resolution process. In such cases, the expert should be cognizant of the possibility that testimony as a fact witness, or even on rare occasions as a corporate witness, is possible. Any work done in this context is generally subject to discovery, especially if the expert is subsequently retained to provide expert witness services, and due consideration should be given to the issues of privilege, attorney work product, methods and procedures employed, and the nature and means of communications between parties.
- 6. This proposition is eroding in many jurisdictions as courts display increasingly limited patience with perceived gamesmanship. Particularly in government-initiated actions, the risks of fines or procedural sanctions for failing fully to respond to discovery requirements tend to outweigh by far the potential tactical or cost-saving advantages of failing to produce arguably responsive documents.
- 7. The Inter-American Convention on International Commercial Arbitration (or the Panama Convention) has provisions similar to those of the New York Convention. It was adopted in 1975, and most Latin American countries are signatories.
- 8. The use of party arbitrators (serving as advocates for a party rather than as a neutral) is no longer common.
- 9. In international arbitration matters (discussed in Section 1.7), investment treaties can also require arbitration.
- 10. Many contractual arbitration matters in the United States, including those related to post-acquisition purchase price adjustment disputes, forgo discovery and hearings entirely. It is very common for these matters to be limited to filings of position papers by each party, followed by a rebuttal paper, and less frequently by telephonic inquiries of the parties for clarification or questioning on specific points of documentation or disputed items.
- Of course, the overall process of resolving the dispute will be quicker only if the mediation is successful.

- 12. An occasional exception is seen in hybrid proceedings, usually under construction contracts, in which the mediator, if no settlement is reached, becomes the arbitrator in the subsequent arbitration proceeding.
- 13. www.cpradr.org/.
- 14. The organizations cooperating on this effort include the Arbitration Committee of the Section for Dispute Resolution of the ABA, AAA, and CPR Institute.
- 15. The organizations establishing standards for mediators include the ABA, AAA, and SPIDR.
- 16. Certain damages theories that are built on case law are appropriate for use in arbitration.
- 17. For example, the Data Protection Act adopted by the European Union in 1998 protects the privacy of personal information that is often contained on an individual's company-issued computer, data storage device, email, and so on. This can complicate the discovery process.
- 18. Most rules provide for significant flexibility in the presentation of evidence. Much of the decision-making authority related to evidence is granted to the tribunal.

### REFERENCES

- American Arbitration Association. A Guide to Mediation and Arbitration for Business People. 2003. www.adr.org.
- ——. Commercial Arbitration Rules and Mediation Procedures (Including Procedures for Large, Complex Commercial Disputes). 2003. www.adr.org.
- ——. Drafting Dispute Resolution Clauses—A Practical Guide. 2004. www.adr.org.
- ——. Model Standards of Conduct for Mediators. 2004. www.adr.org.
- ——. The Code of Ethics for Arbitrators in Commercial Disputes. 2004. www.adr.org.
- Baker, C. Mark, and Arif H. Ali. "Risk Management in International Commercial Transactions: Arbitration and Alternative Dispute Resolution." Presented at the Twenty-Fourth Annual Corporate Counsel Institute seminar, sponsored by the University of Texas School of Law and the Corporate Counsel Section of the State Bar of Texas, 2002.
- Bond, Stephen R. "How to Draft an Arbitration Clause (Revisited)." *ICC International Court of Arbitration Bulletin* 1, no. 2 (December 1990): 14–21.
- Bowman, John P. "Dispute Resolution Planning for the Oil and Gas Industry." *Foreign Investment Law Journal* 16 (Fall 2001), International Centre for Settlement of Investment Disputes, pp. 332-407.
- \_\_\_\_\_. "Dispute Resolution with Host Governments: What the International Petroleum Negotiator Should Know." 2002.
- Center for Public Resources Institute for Dispute Resolution. CPR Model Dispute Resolution Clauses 2004. www.cpradr.org.
- Cheeseman, Henry R. Business Law, 5th ed. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education, 2004.
- \_\_\_\_\_. *Highlights of CPR Procedures and Rules*. 1998. www.cpcradr.org/adr.
- Cummins, Adam S., Mark W. Haller, Kevin D. Kreb, and George G. Strong. "Roles and Techniques of a Financial Expert in Alternative Dispute Resolution." In *Litigation Services Handbook: The Role of the Financial Expert*, 3<sup>rd</sup> ed. New York: John Wiley & Sons, 2001.
- Emmert, Michael P., Mark Mosely, Donald O'Connor, and Mark Richardson. "International Trade Litigation." *In Litigation Services Handbook: The Role of the Financial Expert*, 3rd ed. New York: John Wiley & Sons, 2001.
- Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. § 1 et seq.
- International Bar Association. *IBA Rules on the Taking of Evidence in International Arbitration*. 2010. www.ibanet.org.

### 1 • 32 A DISPUTE RESOLUTION PRIMER

- International Centre for the Settlement of Investment Disputes. ICSID 2004 Annual Report. www.worldbank.org/icsid.
- International Chamber of Commerce International Court of Arbitration. *Resolving Business Disputes Worldwide*. www.iccwbo.org.
- JAMS. JAMS Guide to Dispute Resolution Clauses for Commercial Contracts. 2004. www .jamsadr.com.
- \_\_\_\_\_. *JAMS Comprehensive Arbitration Rules and Procedures*. 2005. www.jamsadr.com.
- Karl, Joachim. "On the Way to Multilateral Investment Rules—Some Recent Policy Issues." In UNCTAD, *International Investment Instruments: A Compendium*, Vol. 4. New York/Geneva: 2000, p. 107.
- National Arbitration Forum. *NAF Code of Conduct for Arbitrators*. www.arbitration-forum.com. \_\_\_\_\_. *NAF Drafting Mediation and Arbitration Clauses*. 2005. www.arbitration-forum.com. SPIDR. *Ethical Standards of Professional Responsibility*. www.spidr.org.
- United Nations. *United Nations Convention on the Recognition and Enforcement of Foreign Arbitral Awards*, commonly known as the New York Convention. New York: UN, 1958.
- United Nations Conference on Trade and Development. *International Investment Disputes on the Rise*. New York: UN, 2004. www.unctad.org.

Accountant arbitrator, 24•11–24•12, 24•25–24•29, 24•34–24•35  Accountant liability, 35•1–35•22 defendant auditor strategies, 35•13–35•19 expert services in litigation, 35•19–35•22 law overview, 35•4–35•9 plaintiff strategies, 35•10–35•13 types of liability, 35•2–35•4	Code of Professional Conduct, 1•14, 2•8, 2•11–2•13 contract compliance investigations, 23•6 electronically stored information, 15•2, 15•4 expert services, 2•11–2•13 forensic accounting services, 2•2, 2•12, 41•2
Acronyms, 32•29–32•30, 39•2	publications on litigation services, 2•12
Actual loss sustained, 12•4	regulatory proceedings against
Address-based sampling frames, 7•20–7•21,	accountant, 35•9
7•36, 7•37	American Society of Appraisers (ASA),
Adequate protection, 25•12	11 • 4, 11 • 21, 11 • 27
Adjustment error, 7•13–7•14	Anticipatory breach, 4•19
Age discrimination, 38 • 3, 38 • 7–38 • 9,	Antitrust laws, 31 • 1–31 • 22
38•10–38•12, 38•26–38•28	Clayton Antitrust Act, 31 • 7–31 • 8,
court opinions, $9 \cdot 40$ , $9 \cdot 51$ , $9 \cdot 52$	31 • 9 – 31 • 10, 31 • 14, 31 • 15, 31 • 20
Age Discrimination in Employment Act	damages, 31 • 1, 31 • 14–31 • 21
(ADEA; 1967), 38•4, 38•5, 38•6,	damages ex post case law, 5•18–5•19
38•27	damages tax treatment, 18•8
Aggregate damages to class, 27 • 8, 27 •	expert services, 31•21–31•22
15–27•16, 27•22	history of, 31•2–31•3
Alter ego, 26•1–26•19	injunction statutory authority, 31•
equitable remedy, 26•2–26•3	14–31 • 15
expert services, 25•31, 26•17–26•19	injury, 31 • 16–31 • 17
indicia of, 26•3–26•4, 26•6–26•16	intellectual property, 31 • 13–31 • 14
legal doctrine, 26•1–26•2	per se violations, 31•6, 31•7, 31•8
limited liability entities, 26•16–26•17	Robinson-Patman Act, 31•8
typical scenarios, 26 • 5–26 • 6	Sherman Antitrust Act, 31 • 2, 31 • 3–31 •
Alternative dispute resolution (ADR),	7, 31•15
1•10, 1•18	transactions and, 31 • 9–31 • 13
advantages, 1 • 19 domestic, 1 • 23–1 • 25	Appeals, 1•5, 1•7–1•8, 1•17–1•18, 1•19 Apportionment, 44•9, 44•10, 44•13–44•18
international, 1 • 19–1 • 20, 1 • 26–1 • 29	Appraisal. See Valuation
mediation, 1•18, 1•21–1•22	Arbitrage pricing theory, 10•10–10•11,
mergers and acquisitions, 24•11–24•13	11•29
variations of, 1•22–1•23	Arbitration, 1•18, 1•20–1•21, 1•24,
See also Arbitration	1•27–1•28
American Arbitration Association (AAA),	mergers and acquisitions, 24 • 12-24 • 13,
1•20, 1•24, 1•26, 24•12	24 • 25 – 24 • 29, 24 • 34 – 24 • 35
American Institute of Certified Public	Area probability frames, 7 • 20, 7 • 36
Accountants (AICPA)	Asset-based approach to valuation, 11•9,
Accredited in Business Valuation, 11•27	11 • 23 – 11 • 24, 11 • 29
Auditing Standards Board, 35•3–35•4	Attestation engagements, 2•7, 2•11
business valuation standards, 11•4,	Attorney's fees. See Fee arrangements
11•5, 44•18	Audit opinions, 2•7
client confidentiality, 1∙14	Audit rights, 23•2

Auditing Standards Board (ASB), 35•3–35•4 Auditor fraud, 27•5	Beyond a reasonable doubt, $4 \cdot 7$ , $40 \cdot 5 - 40 \cdot 6$
Audits of royalties, 23•2–23•6. See also	Bid rigging, 31•6
Financial statement investigations	Boards of directors' compensation, 36•9
Autocorrelation, 9 • 10 – 9 • 11, 9 • 27	Bona fide occupational qualification, 38•4,
Automatic stay of bankruptcy, 25•10–25•11,	38•5
25•12	Book cost, 8 • 21, 8 • 24
Auxiliary data, 7•20, 7•25–7•26, 7•31, 7•40	"Book of wisdom" concept, 5•5,
Availability of sample members, 38•8,	5•11–5•13, 20•27–20•28
38•15–38•18	Boycotts in antitrust, 5•18–5•19, 31•6
Average cost, 4•35, 8•25	Breusch-Pagan test, 9•7–9•10
Average earnings reference sources,	Burden of proof
13•3–13•4	copyright infringement, 19•22, 19•42
	intellectual property infringement,
Backups and data preservation, 15•12–15•13,	19•17, 19•18, 19•42, 22•2
41 • 9, 43 • 7, 43 • 15	punitive damages and, 17•21
Badges of fraud, 40•6, 40•11–40•13, 40•23	significance level and, 9•22–9•23
Bankruptcy, 25 • 1–25 • 32	tax prosecution, 40 • 5−40 • 6
alter ego, 26•12–26•15	trademark infringement, 19•31, 19•42
assignment for benefit of creditors,	Business enterprise value, 11•10
25•4–25•5	Business interruption insurance, 12 • 1−12 • 19
automatic stay, 25 • 10−25 • 11, 25 • 12	claim as term, 12∙14
Bankruptcy Code, 25 • 5–25 • 10	claim development, 12•11–12•13
Bankruptcy Courts, 1•8, 25•6–25•7	dispute resolution, 12•14–12•15,
cash collateral, 25•11–25•12	12•16–12•18
chapter 11 reorganization, 25•8–25•9,	expert services, 12•16–12•18, 12•19
25•19–25•23	litigated claims, 12•15, 12•18–12•19
civil litigation versus, 25•31–25•32	loss adjustment, 12∙9–12∙10
claims and interests, 25•15–25•17	overview, 12•2–12•8
commencement, 25•10	settlement, 12•13–12•14
discharge of debts, 25•19	Business valuation, 11 • 1−11 • 35
disclosure statement, 25 • 21–25 • 22	asset-based approach, 11 • 9, 11 • 23–11 • 24
expert services, $25 \cdot 2 - 25 \cdot 3$ , $25 \cdot 13$ ,	definition, 4•46n86, 11•30
25 • 23 – 25 • 31	ex ante vs. ex post, 11∙3
filing schedules, 25•12–25•13	family law, 44•18–44•20
financial reporting, 25•15	guideline companies, 11•21, 11•22, 11•32
operating reports, 25 • 14, 25 • 15	income approach, 11•9–11•20
out-of-court settlements, 25•3–25•4	in litigation matters, 11•2–11•4
substantive consolidation, 26•15	lost profits vs. lost business value,
trustees, 25 • 7 – 25 • 8, 25 • 14	11 • 26–11 • 27
voidable transfers, 25•17–25•19	market approach, 11∙9, 11∙20–11∙22
Barter transactions, 23 • 19–23 • 20	premise of value, 11 • 8, 11 • 34
Bench trials, 1•5, 1•16, 1•17	specialty certification, 11 • 27–11 • 28
Benefit of bargain damages, 4•12–4•18	standards, 11 • 4–11 • 5, 11 • 28
Beta, 11•29	term definitions, 11•29–11•35
CAPM for capital cost estimation, $10 \cdot 6$ ,	valuation adjustments, 11•24–11•26
10•14–10•16	valuation date, 11•8–11•9, 11•35
levered beta, 11•33	value, 11∙5–11∙8
privately held companies, 10•20–10•21	Business value loss, 4 • 22 – 4 • 24, 4 • 28 – 4 • 37,
securities event studies, 27•20	11 • 26–11 • 27
tests of CAPM, 10•7–10•8	But-for price line, 27 • 8, 27 • 12−27 • 15
unlevered beta, 11•35	But-for test, $4 \cdot 4 - 4 \cdot 5$ , $4 \cdot 8$

Capital asset pricing model (CAPM), 11 •30 beta, 10 •6, 10 •14–10 •16	expert testimony legal standards, 14•6 intraclass conflicts, 28•6–28•11
cost of capital, 10 • 5−10 • 10, 10 • 12−10 • 17	sampling use, 6 • 19 – 6 • 20, 14 • 12 – 14 • 13
damages discounting, 4•27	securities aggregate damages, 27•8,
formulas, 10•7	27•15–27•16, 27•22
market risk vs. unique risk, 10•5–10•6	securities class certification, 28•1–28•14,
size-adjusted, 10•17	30•13–30•15
tests of, 10•7–10•9	securities trading models, 27•16–27•17,
variations, 10•5	27•22–27•24
Capitalization of earnings method, 11 • 14,	Supreme Court decisions, 28•11–28•14
11•30	Clayton Antitrust Act (1914), 31 • 7–31 • 8,
Capitalization rate, 11 • 30, 34 • 23 – 34 • 24	31 • 9 – 31 • 10, 31 • 14, 31 • 15, 31 • 20
Cardinal changes, 33•18–33•19	Clear and convincing evidence, 4•7–4•8
Carve-outs, 24•5–24•6	Closed-ended questions, 7•32–7•33, 43•17
Cash collateral, 25•11–25•12, 30•7–30•9	Cluster sampling, 6•5, 6•10, 7•26–7•27,
Causation, 4•1–4•11	7•44–7•45
actual cause, 4•4–4•5	Coerced loan theory, 16•4
antitrust harm, 31•16–31•17	Collateral, 30•19
common law fraud, 4•7–4•8	Collateral pools, 30•9
correlation does not equal, 9•27,	Collateral reinvestment risk, 30•6
9•34–9•35	Commercial damages tax treatment,
damages link, 4•25	18•7–18•8
expert testimony, 4•38–4•41	Commingled property, 44•3, 44•8–44•9
fundamentals, 4•3–4•4	Common law fraud, 4•7–4•8
legal cause, 4•4, 4•5–4•7	Commonality in class certification,
patent infringement, 20•5	14•6–14•9, 14•11
Section 337 injury, 21 • 4, 21 • 7	Community property, 44•2, 44•3, 44•7,
Certified public accountants. See CPAs	44•8, 44•9, 44•10
Change-in-control transactions, 36•21	tracing property, 44•8, 44•10–44•13
Chapter 7 liquidation, 25•7–25•8	Compensatory damages, 4•12–4•18
Chapter 11 reorganization, 25•8–25•9,	Competitive market effects, 4•19–4•20
25•19–25•23	Complaint, 1•10–1•11
Child support, 44•5	Completion accounts, 24•10–24•11
Children under family law, 44•3, 44•4,	Composition settlements, 25•3
44•5	Compounding periods, 16•11–16•12
Children's lost wages, 13•14	Comps (comparable companies), 11•21,
Chi-square tests, 38 • 11–38 • 12, 38 • 26	11•22, 11•32
Chow test, 8•16–8•17, 9•18–9•19	Computer-assisted interviewing, 7•35,
Christian doctrine, 32•4	7•36, 7•37, 7•38, 7•39–7•40
Circuits of federal system, 1•6–1•7	Concurrent delay, 33•12
Civil court system, 1 • 5–1 • 9, 4 • 2, 25 • 31	Confidence intervals, 7 • 13, 7 • 23
Bankruptcy Court litigation versus,	Confidence level, 6 • 3, 6 • 6, 7 • 17
25•31–25•32	court 95 percent, 38•9, 38•10, 39•9
Civil procedure, 1 • 9, 1 • 10−1 • 18	Confidentiality, 1•14, 2•9, 40•17, 41•14
Class action litigation, 14•1–14•16	Conflicts of interest, 2 • 9 – 2 • 11, 14 • 13 – 14 • 14
10b-5 class actions, 28•6–28•9	Confounding events, 27 • 18
class action requirements, 14•2–14•5,	Consequential damages, 4•12, 4•14–4•15
28•1–28•2	Conspiracy to defraud the United States, 40•5
class certification description, 14•1–14•2	Construction claims, 33 • 1–33 • 23
class certification expert roles, 14•6–14•16	claim overview, 33•2–33•4
class certification in securities, 28•1–	claims avoidance, 33•22
28•14, 30•13–30•15	contract overview, 33•4–33•6

Construction claims (Continued)	Control, 11•30
contract risks, 23•25	alter ego, 26 • 5, 26 • 7, 26 • 12−26 • 15
cost pools, 33 • 8−33 • 11	mergers and acquisitions, 24 • 23 – 24 • 24
damages calculation, 33 • 20–33 • 22	Control group, 7•27–7•28
damages for acceleration, 33 • 18, 33 • 19	Control premium, 11•30
damages for delay, 33 • 11 – 33 • 13,	Controllable cost, 8 • 22
33 • 20 – 33 • 22	Convenience sampling, 7•18
damages for disruption, 33•13–33•17	Convoyed sales, 20•36–20•37
damages for extra work, 33•17–33•19	Copyright Act (1976), 19•2–19•3, 19•4,
damages for home office overhead,	19•20, 19•21, 19•23–19•24, 19•26,
33•20	19•37, 22•4
damages overview, 33•11	Copyrights, 19•2–19•5
documentation, 33•7	comparison of IP remedies, 19•37–19•43
entrepreneurial profit, 34•10–34•12	contract compliance investigations, 23•3
expert services, $33 \cdot 6 - 33 \cdot 7$ , $33 \cdot 23$	damages issues, 19•19–19•26
terms used, 33•2	economic analysis considerations, 19•4
Consulting as expert service, 2•3–2•4	infringement, 22•4
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau	infringer's profit calculation, 22•1–22•12
(CFPB), 39•2, 39•3, 39•7	injunctions, 19•19
Contingency tables, 38•12	lost profits damages, 19•21, 19•39
Contingent compensation rates, 23•19	patents versus, 19•3, 19•5, 19•37–19•43
Contingent fees, 2•14, 18•11–18•12	registration, 22•4
Continuing expenses, 12•4–12•5	Corner risk, 30•16
Contract compliance investigations,	Corporate identity, 26 • 5 – 26 • 6, 26 • 7, 26 • 10
23•1–23•26	Corporate Integrity Agreements,
accounting vs. contractual, 23•22	29•2–29•3
description, 23 • 2, 23 • 4	Correlation
error handling, 23•21, 23•22	correlated variables, 6•11
fieldwork stage, 23•10–23•23	not equal to causation, 9•27, 9•34–9•35
financial statement audits versus, 23•5–23•6	serial correlation court opinions, 9•46–9•47
industry-specific risks, 23 • 25 – 23 • 26	Cost accounting standards (CAS), 32•6,
litigation ongoing, 23•23	32•18–32•19
planning stage, 23•7–23•10	Cost analysis
reporting stage, 23•23-23•26	cost terminology, 8 • 20 – 8 • 25
rights subjected to, 23 • 3 – 23 • 4	damages claim, 4•35–4•36
Contracts, 32•2	general ledger data, 8•9–8•15
breach of contract, 4•9–4•10, 4•19	regression analysis, 8 • 5 – 8 • 7, 8 • 11 – 8 • 17
competitive market effects, 4•19–4•20	total cost relationships, 8 • 2–8 • 5,
construction projects, 33 • 4–33 • 6	8•17–8•19
contract risks, 23•25	See also Incremental cost
damages ex ante case law, 5•15–5•17	Cost behavior, 8 • 8 − 8 • 9, 22 • 7 − 22 • 8
duty to mitigate, 4•11	Cost of capital, 10•1–10•21
economic loss doctrine, 4•8, 4•9–4•10	arbitrage pricing theory, 10•10−10•11
insurance contracts, 12•2–12•3	capital asset pricing model, 10•5–10•10,
noncompete agreements, 37 • 5–37 • 6	10 • 12 – 10 • 17
reasonable certainty, 4•9	cost of capital risk, 30∙15
torts vs. contracts, 4•10	definition, 11 • 30
See also Contract compliance investiga-	description, 10 • 1
tions; Damages; Federal contract	estimating, 10 • 12−10 • 21
disputes	income approach to business valuation,
Contribution margin, 22•8	11 • 12 – 11 • 13

opportunity cost, 10•2–10•5 privately held companies, 10•18,	antitrust, 31 • 1, 31 • 15–31 • 21 "book of wisdom" concept, 5 • 5,
10•20–10•21	5•11–5•13 <i>,</i> 20•27–20•28
weighted average cost of capital, 10•18, 10•19, 11•35, 20•41	business valuations, 11 • 2–11 • 3 categories of, 4 • 11–4 • 12
Cost pools, 33 • 8–33 • 11	causation expert testimony, 4•38–4•41
Cost terminology, 8 • 20 – 8 • 25, 22 • 5 – 22 • 7	causation fundamentals, 4•3–4•8
Costs of Goods Sold (COGS), 22∙7	causation link, 4•25
Counterparty defaults, 30•6	claim development, 4•28–4•37
Courts of appeals, 1•7	class member calculations, 14•14–14•15
Court of Appeals for Federal Circuit,	compensatory, 4•12–4•18
20 • 5 – 20 • 6, 21 • 2	computation as expert service, 2•5
Courts of limited jurisdiction, 1•8	construction overview, 33•11
Courts of unlimited jurisdiction, 1•8	discounting, 4•27
Coverage error, 7 • 13, 7 • 14	double recovery, 4•24, 11•27, 19•17,
CPAs (certified public accountants)	19•35, 22•2
audit meaning, 23∙5	economic impact as first step, 14∙7
business valuation standards, 11•5	<i>ex ante</i> application, 5•3–5•7
client confidentiality ethics, 1 • 14	ex ante vs. ex post, $4 \cdot 20$ , $5 \cdot 1 - 5 \cdot 3$
contract compliance investigations,	<i>ex post</i> application, 5 • 7−5 • 10
23 • 5 – 23 • 6	<i>ex post/ante</i> hybrid, 5•3, 5•10–5•13
data preservation, 15∙11	federal breach of contract, 32 • 13−32 • 14
expert services, 2•1–2•7, 2•11–2•13	for fraud, 4•21
forensic accounting services, 2•2, 41•2	health care fraud, 42•7, 42•10–42•14
mergers and acquisitions, 24 • 29 – 24 • 35	interest on, 20•41
See also Accountant liability; Expert services	jurisdiction differences, 4•2
CPR Institute. See International Institute for	legal precedents, 4•28
Conflict Prevention & Resolution	legal standards, 4•8–4•11
Cram down/up, 25•22	measurement date, 5•5, 5•8
Credentials and expert qualifications, 3•12	modeling, 4•21–4•28
Critical path method, 33•21	newly established business, 4•20–4•21
Cross-border transactions	period of loss, 13•15
accounting guidance, 24•6–24•7,	prejudgment interest, 4•27–4•28
24•16–24•17, 43•4–43•5	punitive, 4•12, 4•18, 17•1–17•2 (see also
arbitration venue, 24∙25	Punitive damages)
international investigations, 43 • 1–43 • 19	regression analysis, 4•25–4•26
risks, 24•3–24•4	restitution, 4•12–4•18
Cross-examination, 1•15, 3•17	securities litigation, 27 • 5–27 • 8,
Currency risk, 30•16	27•15–27•17
Current Population Survey (CPS; U.S. Cen-	tax considerations, 4•37, 18•1–18•2
sus Department), 13•3, 13•9, 13•14	tax treatment by claim type, 18•4–
Custodians	18•8
data preservation, 15•5, 15•6–15•7, 15•10–15•11	tax treatment substantiation, $18 \cdot 3 - 18 \cdot 4$ taxes, origin of claim test, $18 \cdot 2 - 18 \cdot 3$ ,
email, 15•8–15•9, 15•21–15•23, 15•25, 41•9	18•7, 18•9–18•10, 18•11 theories of, 4•11–4•21
forensic data collection, 15•15,	time considerations, 4•24–4•25,
41 • 9 – 41 • 11, 43 • 14	4•36–4•37, 5•2, 5•6, 5•9, 5•11
Customer cost, 8•18	wrongdoer's rule, 5•13–5•14
	See also Damages for nonpatent intellec-
Damaged earnings, 13•4–13•5	tual property infringement; Prejudg-
Damages, 4•1–4•41	ment interest

Damages for nonpatent intellectual prop-	Data extraction from enterprise databases,
erty infringement, 19•1–19•43	15•15-15•17, 41•11
copyright, 19•2–19•5 copyright damages, 19•19–19•26	Data management, 15•1–15•32 data maps, 15•7, 41•11
court guidance, 19•19	data preservation, 15 • 5–15 • 13 (see also
damages measurement, 19•10–19•16	Data preservation)
false advertising, 19•7, 19•8	data theft, 19•10
harm to owner, 19•10–19•11	discovery management, 15•2–15•5
nonmonetary remedies, 19•18–19•19	email analysis, 15•21–15•29
patent damages versus, 19•16–19•19 trade secrets, 19•8–19•10	employment litigation, 38•13–38•14 final steps, 15•32
trade secrets damages, 19•34–19•35	forensic data collection, 15•14–15•17,
trademark, 19•5–19•8	$41 \bullet 9 - 41 \bullet 11$
trademark damages, 19•26–19•34	forensic pre-analysis, 15•17–15•21
Data analysis	harm and data reliability, 14•15–14•16
adjustment error, 7•13–7•14, 7•40	international investigations,
forensic analysis, 15•21–15•30,	43•13–43•14
41 • 11 – 41 • 13	productions, 15•30–15•32
forensic pre-analysis, 15•17–15•21	system profiles, 15•7, 15•8
imputation, $6 \bullet 7$ , $7 \bullet 6$ , $7 \bullet 13 - 7 \bullet 14$ , $7 \bullet 32$ ,	Data normalization, 15•17–15•21
7•40, 7•41–7•42	Data preservation
probability vs. nonprobability samples, 7•17–7•18	backup tapes, 15•12–15•13, 41•9, 43•7, 43•15
raw survey data, 7•6	custodian computers/devices,
survey research, 7•6, 7•43–7•45	15•10–15•11
Data collection	description, 15•5
adjustment error, 7 • 13−7 • 14, 7 • 40	eDiscovery program, 15•7, 15•8
auxiliary data, 7•20, 7•25–7•26, 7•31, 7•40	email, 15•6, 15•8–15•10, 15•16, 41•9
data privacy, 1•31n17, 15•14, 43•15	enterprise applications, 15•11–15•13,
experimental via surveys, 7•27–7•28	15•15–15•17
fair lending, 39 • 11 – 39 • 14, 39 • 16, 39 • 20,	financial statement investigations,
39•24–39•25, 39•31–39•32	41 • 9-41 • 11
field period of survey, 7 • 6, 7 • 29, 7 • 37,	hard copy, 15•13
7•38, 7•40	international investigation, 43•6–43•8
forensic, 15•14–15•17, 41•9–41•11,	legal holds, 15•6–15•7
43•6–43•8, 43•14–43•15	memorandum for, 15•16
forensic media/storage issues, 15•17	social media, 15•13
forensic pre-analysis, 15•17–15•21	Data privacy, 1•31n17, 15•14, 43•15
general ledger data, 8•9–8•11	Data sources
item nonresponse, 7•31–7•32 (see also	fair lending, 39 • 10, 39 • 11 – 39 • 14, 39 • 16,
Nonresponse error)	39•18–39•19, 39•20, 39•24–39•25,
lost earnings of persons, 13•1–13•4	39•29
measurement error, 7•11–7•12	financial statement investigations,
monitoring interviewers, 7•34	41 • 9-41 • 10
postsurvey adjustments, 7•40–7•43, 15•17–15•21	lost earnings of persons, $13 \cdot 3 - 13 \cdot 4$ , $13 \cdot 9$ , $13 \cdot 14$
processing error, 7•12, 7•40	protected class availability, 38•16
raw survey data, 7•6	real estate, 34•17
self-reported data, 7 • 33–7 • 34	securities financing, 30•7
survey research, 7 • 5–7 • 6, 7 • 14–7 • 15,	Databases
7•35–7•40	data preservation, 15•11–15•12 (see also
See also Data sources	Data preservation)

forensic analysis, 15•29–15•30	Direct capitalization method, 34•9,
forensic data collection, 15•15–15•17,	34•21–34•23 Disease 4-25 8-21 8-22 22-0 22-10
41•11	Direct costs, 4 • 35, 8 • 21, 8 • 23, 33 • 9 – 33 • 10
forensic pre-analysis, 15•18–15•21	Disclosure, 1 • 4, 7 • 6–7 • 7
forensic productions, 15•31–15•32	Disclosure statements (chapter 11),
Daubert challenge	25•21–25•22
admissibility guidance, 1•2–1•3, 3•2–3•3	Discount rate, 11•31
challenges to, 3•5	damages claim development, 4•27,
class certification, 14•6	4•36–4•37
Daubert trilogy, 3•2–3•4	damages <i>ex ante</i> , 5•3, 5•5–5•6
econometrics in litigation, 9•2–9•3	damages ex post, $5 \cdot 3$ , $5 \cdot 8 - 5 \cdot 9$
expert qualifications and, 2•6, 3•3–3•5	damages hybrid approach, 5•10
impact, 3•4–3•5	opportunity cost, $10 \cdot 2 - 10 \cdot 5$
lost earnings of persons, 13•3	Discounted cash flow (DCF) method, 11•31
pre-Daubert standards, 3•2	cost of capital, 10•11
relevance, 3•9–3•10	damages modeling, 4•23, 4•27
reliability, 3•5–3•9	equity-debt constancy, 11•20
Days-on-market, 34•17	income approach to business valuation,
De facto merger doctrine, 26•6,	11•11-11•12, 11•13-11•14
26•13–26•14	real estate valuation, 34•9, 34•24–34•27
Debtor-in-possession (DIP), 25•5, 25•9,	Discovery, 1•11
25•11–25•12, 25•14	alternative dispute resolution, 1•19, 1•20
Deduction of legal fees, 18•11–18•12	depositions, 1•13–1•14
Default risk, 10•2, 10•3–10•4	electronically stored information,
Defense Contract Audit Agency (DCAA),	15•2–15•5
32•9, 32•34	expert assistance, 1•11–1•14, 2•4
Deferred prosecution agreements (DPAs),	expert testimony, 1•4
29 • 1 – 29 • 17, 29 • 21 – 29 • 35	family law, 44•4
court decisions, 29•10–29•14	interrogatories, 1•12
description, 29 • 1–29 • 2, 29 • 16–29 • 17	mergers and acquisitions, 24•33
DOJ and SEC agreements, 29•3–29•9	requests for admissions, 1•13
monitor's governance recommendations, 29•21–29•26	requests for production of documents, 1•12–1•13
monitorship history, 29•2–29•3	rules of civil procedure, 1•9
monitorships recently, 29•14–29•16	sampling use, 6•20–6•21
summaries of, 29 • 27 – 29 • 35	Section 337 investigations, 21 • 4
Degree of harm, 17∙7	subpoenas, 1•14
Delaware prejudgment interest, 16•12	tax returns, 13•2
Demand-side substitution, 31•4	written reports, 1•11−1•12
Demurrer, 1•10–1•11	Discrimination, 38 • 1–38 • 32
Depositions, 1•13–1•14	categories of, 38 • 6, 39 • 6−39 • 8
Derivative works, 19∙5	data management, 38•13–38•14
Design effect, 7 • 24–7 • 25	economics of, 38•3
Design patents	hiring issues, 38 • 14–38 • 19
damages, 20•40	legal background, 38•4–38•6
infringement, 5 • 20, 20 • 4, 22 • 4 – 22 • 5	pay disparities, 38•28–38•32
infringer's profit calculation, 22 • 1–22 • 12	promotion practices, 38 • 19–38 • 25
Differential efficiency hypothesis, 31•17	statistical analysis, 38•6–38•13
Digital Millennium Copyright Act (DMCA;	termination, 38 • 25 – 38 • 28
1998), 19•3–19•4, 19•37	See also Age discrimination; Fair lending
Digital rights management (DRM),	litigation; Gender discrimination;
19•3–19•4	Racial discrimination

Disgorgement as damages, 4•15	Earnings projection for person, 13 • 5–13 • 8
Disparate impact, 38•6, 39•3	Earn-out clauses, 24 • 5 – 24 • 6, 24 • 20 – 24 • 23
Dispute resolution, 1•1–1•29	Econometric analysis, 9•1–9•58
alternative processes, 1•18–1•29	autocorrelation, 9•10–9•12
business interruption insurance,	court opinions, 9•27–9•58
12•14–12•15, 12•16–12•18	description, 9•1–9•2
civil court system, 1•5, 1•6–1•9,	explanatory variables, 9•13–9•15
1•8, 4•2	forecasting, 9•25
contract clause, 1•18	functional form choice, 9•16–9•18
legal process, 1•10–1•18	heteroscedasticity, 9•7–9•10, 9•11–9•12
mergers and acquisitions, 24•11–24•14,	multicollinearity, 9•5–9•7
24 • 25 – 24 • 29	outliers, 9 • 12 – 9 • 13
mergers and acquisitions accountants,	reduced form models, 9•13–9•14
24 • 29 – 24 • 35	regression analysis overview, 9•1–9•2
overview, 1•2–1•5	regression model, 9 • 3 – 9 • 5, 9 • 21 – 9 • 22,
securities finance disputes, 30•1–30•16	9•27, 9•36
See also Federal contract disputes	residual analysis, 9•25
District courts, 1•6–1•7	role in litigation, 9•2–9•3
Dividend arbitrage, 30 • 15−30 • 16	<i>R</i> -squared, 9•24–9•25
Divorce. See Family law	sensitivity testing, 9•18–9•21
Document management, 2•6, 33•7	significance level, 9•22–9•23
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and	structural models, 9•13–9•14
Consumer Protection Act (2010),	Economic injury and Section 337,
36•13–36•14, 36•15–36•16, 36•22,	21 • 3-21 • 8
<b>41 •</b> 16	Economic loss doctrine, 4•8, 4•9–4•10
DOJ. See U.S. Department of Justice	Economies of scale, 8 • 14−8 • 15
Dominant firm theory, 31 • 16–31 • 17	EDiscovery. See Electronically stored
Domination and control, 26•7,	information
26•12–26•15	Electronically stored information (ESI),
Double marginalization, 19∙12	15•1–15•32
Double recovery of damages	data collection, 15•14–15•17 (see also
intellectual property infringement,	Data collection)
19•17, 19•35, 22•2	data preservation, 15∙5–15•13 (see also
lost profits and lost business value, 4 • 24,	Data preservation)
11•27	data theft, 19•10
Due diligence	discovery management, 15•2–15•5
mergers and acquisitions, 24•2, 24•31–	email analysis, 15•21–15•29, 41•12
24•32, 41•7–41•8	(see also Email)
securities lending program, 30•5, 30•7	forensic final steps, 15∙32
Durbin-Watson $d$ statistic, $9 \cdot 10 - 9 \cdot 11$ , $9 \cdot 36$	forensic pre-analysis, 15•17–15•21
Duty to mitigate, 4•11	international investigations, 43 • 14-43 • 15
	media/storage issues, 15∙17
Earnings before interest, taxes, deprecia-	productions, 15•30–15•32
tion, and amortization (EBITDA)	Email
business valuation, 11•22	data preservation, 15•8–15•10, 15•16,
cost of capital, 25∙26	41•9
mergers and acquisitions, 24•3, 24•19–	forensic analysis, 15•21–15•29, 41•12
24•20, 24•22, 24•24	forensic pre-analysis, 15•17–15•18
Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)	forensic productions, 15•30–15•31
cost of capital, 25∙26	fraud triangle analytics, 15•25–15•26
mergers and acquisitions, 24 • 20, 24 • 22,	legal holds and, 15•6
24•24	Embezzlement, 36•23–36•24

Employee Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA; 1974), 28 • 9–28 • 11	significance level and burden of proof, 9•22-9•23
Employment litigation, 38 • 1–38 • 32	See also Electronically stored information
data management, 38•13–38•14	Ex ante vs. ex post damages, 5•1–5•21
discrimination description, 38 • 2−38 • 3	appraisals as <i>ex ante</i> , 34∙4
discrimination legal background,	business valuation, 11∙3
38•4–38•6	description, $4 \cdot 20$ , $5 \cdot 1 - 5 \cdot 3$
gender, 38•24–38•25 (see also Gender	ex ante application, 5•3–5•7
discrimination)	ex ante case law, $5 \cdot 15 - 5 \cdot 17$
hiring issues, 38•14–38•19	ex post application, $5 \cdot 7 - 5 \cdot 10$
pay disparities, 38 • 28 – 38 • 32	<i>ex post</i> case law, 5 • 18−5 • 21
promotion practices, 38 • 19–38 • 25	hybrid, 5•3, 5•10–5•13
statistical analysis, 6•17–6•19,	hybrid "book of wisdom" concept, 5∙5,
38•6–38•13	5•11–5•13 <i>,</i> 20•27–20•28
termination, 38 • 25 – 38 • 28	valuation date, 11 • 8−11 • 9, 11 • 35
<i>En banc</i> petitions, 1•7	wrongdoer's rule, 5•13–5•14
Engagement letters, 2•14	Exclusion of testimony, 1•3, 3•5–3•9
Engineering method of cost estimation,	Exclusion orders
<b>8•17–8•1</b> 9	general, 21 • 8, 21 • 10, 21 • 12–21 • 15
Enterprise, 11•10, 11•30	limited, 21 • 8, 21 • 10–21 • 14
Entire market value rule (EMVR),	Exclusive dealing agreements, 31•7–31•8
20•34–20•37	Executive compensation litigation,
Entrepreneurial profit, 34•10–34•12	36•1–36•30
Equitable property, 44•3	abuses of, 36•23–36•24
Equitable remedy and alter ego,	backdating of stock options, 36 • 17–36 • 18
26•2–26•3, 26•15–26•16	challenges of presentation, 36•25–36•30
Equity valuation, 11•11–11•12	compensation issues, 36•3–36•5
Equity-based compensation, 36•6–36•7	description, 36•2–36•3
Errors of measurement, 7•11–7•12, 7•14,	earnings manipulation, 36•14–36•16
7•15	fraud and stock options, 36•19–36•21
Errors of representation, 7•12–7•15	golden parachutes, 36•21–36•23
Ethics	magnitude in context, 36•28–36•30
client confidentiality, 1•14	quantifying compensation, 36•18–36•19
Code of Ethics for Arbitrators in	stock-based compensation accounting,
Commercial Disputes, 1•24	36•11–36•14
expert professional standards, 2 • 8 – 2 • 13	theory and practice, 36•5–36•10
Sentencing Guidelines, 29•4–29•5	understatement of, 36•16–36•17
European Union (EU) data privacy,	valuation-related disputes and, 36•25
1•31n17, 15•14	Executive stock options, 36•16–36•21
Event risk, 30 • 15	valuation challenges, 36•26–36•28
Event studies in securities litigation, 27•8–27•12, 27•18–27•21	Exempt employees, 6•9, 38•29, 38•31–38•32
Evidence	Exhibits and expert testimony, 3•17
clear and convincing, 4•7	Expectation damages, 4•12–4•18
direct examination, 1•15	Expense transaction investigation,
experts' qualifications, 2•7–2•8	23•17–23•19
financial statement investigations,	Experimental design surveys, 7•16,
41•9-41•13	7•27–7•28
findings of fact, 1•16	Expert services, 2•1–2•15
rules of, 1 • 9, 3 • 2	accountant liability litigation,
Section 337 investigations, 21 • 4	35•19–35•22
	alter ego, 25•31, 26•17–26•19

**3•10−3•13** 

Expert services (Continued)	relevance, 3•9–3•10
antitrust, 31 • 21 – 31 • 22	reliability of expert, 3•5–3•9
bankruptcy, 25•2–25•3, 25•13,	role of, 1 • 4−1 • 5, 1 • 6, 2 • 2−2 • 3
25 • 23 – 25 • 31	tax fraud, 40∙18
business interruption insurance,	See also <i>Daubert</i> challenge
12•16–12•18, 12•19	Extra vs. mitigating expenses, 12•5–12•6
business valuation, 11 • 2, 11 • 27–11 • 28	Extrapolation in sampling, 6•11–6•13,
class certification, 14•6–14•16	23 • 21, 42 • 15 – 42 • 16
construction claims, 33 • 6–33 • 7, 33 • 23	
contract compliance investigations, 23•2,	Fact testimony vs. expert testimony, 4•39
23 • 5 – 23 • 6	Fair lending litigation, 39 • 1–39 • 33
definition, 2∙2	data used, 39•11–39•14
family law, 44 • 2−44 • 3, 44 • 6, 44 • 20	discrimination categories, 39•6–39•8
federal contract disputes, 32 • 9−32 • 11,	fair servicing, 39∙31–39∙33
32•26–32•28	legal background, 39•3–39•6
financial statement investigations, 41 • 2,	pricing, 39 • 20 – 39 • 23
41 • 8 – 41 • 9	redlining, 39 • 23 – 39 • 31
logistics, 2•13–2•15	statistical background, 39•8–39•11
malpractice concerns, 2•12–2•13	underwriting, 39•14–39•20
mergers and acquisitions, 24•2,	Fair market value, 11 • 5, 11 • 6, 11 • 31
24 • 29 – 24 • 35	Fair use of copyrighted material,
patent reasonable royalty, 20•32	19•3–19•4, 19•5, 22•4
professional standards, 2•8–2•13	Fair value, 11 • 5, 11 • 7, 11 • 8
publications by AICPA, 2•12	False advertising, 19∙7, 19∙8
punitive damages, 17•3–17•9	False Claims Act (FCA; 1863),
qualifications of experts, 2•6, 2•7–2•13,	32•23–32•25, 42•4–42•17
3•2, 3•3–3•4, 3•10–3•13	Family law, 44 • 1–44 • 20
roles of, 2•1–2•7	apportionment, $44 \bullet 9$ , $44 \bullet 10$ ,
Section 337 investigations, 21 • 3	44 • 13 – 44 • 18
securities litigation, 27 • 8–27 • 17	business valuation, 44 • 18−44 • 20
survey research, 7•9–7•10	expert services, $44 \cdot 2 - 44 \cdot 3$ , $44 \cdot 20$
tax fraud, 40 • 16–40 • 23	marital fraud, 44•20
Expert testimony, 3•1–3•21	process, 44 • 3–44 • 5
admissibility, 1 • 2 – 1 • 4, 3 • 2 – 3 • 3,	property, 44 • 2–44 • 4, 44 • 6–44 • 10
4•38–4•39	support, 44 • 5–44 • 6
alternative dispute resolution, 1 • 25,	tracing property, 44 • 8, 44 • 10–44 • 13
$1 \cdot 28 - 1 \cdot 29$	transmutations, 44•13
antitrust, 31 • 21−31 • 22	Federal Acquisition Regulation (FAR)
art of testimony, 3 • 13−3 • 17	allowable cost, 32∙16–32∙17
business interruption insurance, 12•19	federal contract disputes, 32•1–32•2,
challenges to, 3•17–3•21	32•4–32•5, 32•7–32•8
class certification expert roles,	job cost, 33•9, 33•10
$14 \bullet 6 - 14 \bullet 16$	Federal contract disputes, 32•1–32•34
class certification legal standards, 14•6	acronyms, 32•29–32•30
damage causation, 4∙38–4∙41	breach of contract damages, 32 • 13–32 • 14
fact testimony versus, 4•39	commercial contracts, 32•21–32•23
Federal Rules of Evidence Rule 702,	contract as term, 32•2
3•2, 3•4	contract pricing, 32•14–32•23
health care fraud, 42∙14–42∙17	contract termination, 32•19–32•20
patent reasonable royalty, 20•32	contractor claims, 32•12–32•13
qualifications of experts, 2•7–2•8,	Defense Contract Audit Agency, 32•9,
3•10–3•13	32•34

expert services, 32•9–32•11, 32•26–32•28	Horizontal Merger Guidelines, 31•4–31•5
extraordinary transactions, 32•20	Fee arrangements, 2•13–2•14
False Claims Act, 32 • 23–32 • 25	contingent legal fees, 2•14, 18•11–18•12
financial accounting disputes,	deduction of legal fees, 18•11–18•12
32•25–32•26	Lanham Act, 19•34
guidance, 32•9	securities financing litigation,
interest, 32•23	30•12–30•13
litigation process, 32•26–32•28	Fiduciary duty, 36•4, 36•23–36•24
nature of, 32•3–32•5	Field period of survey, <b>7</b> •6, <b>7</b> •29, <b>7</b> •37,
protests by bidders, 32•12	7•38, 7•40
<i>qui tam</i> actions, 32•24–32•25	File conversions for normalization,
regulations, 32•7–32•9	15•19–15•21
statutes, 32 • 5–32 • 7, 32 • 32–32 • 33	Financial Accounting Standards Board
Uniform Contract Format, 32•3, 32•4,	(FASB), 36•11–36•14
32•31	Financial acronyms, 32•29–32•30
Federal courts, 1•6–1•8	Financial glossaries, 8 • 20 – 8 • 25, 11 • 29 – 11 • 35
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure	22•5–22•7, 30•19, 33•2
discovery permitted experts, 1•6, 1•9,	Financial statement investigations,
1•11–1•12	41•1–41•23
eDiscovery, 15•3–15•4	accountant liability, 35•10–35•19
federal class actions, 28•1–28•2	communication about, 41 • 15–41 • 16
Federal Rules of Evidence (1975)	contract compliance investigations
damage causation testimony, 4•38	versus, 23 • 5 – 23 • 6
expert testimony, 3•2, 3•3, 3•4, 3•5	expert services, 41 • 2
qualifications of experts, 3•2, 3•4,	fraud, 41 • 2–41 • 5, 41 • 17–41 • 23
3•10–3•13	intent, 41 • 14-41 • 15
relevance of expert testimony,	international investigations, 43•3–43•5
3•9–3•10	process, 41 • 8–41 • 14
survey research admissibility, 7•8–7•9	regulation trends, 41 • 16–41 • 17
tax fraud expert witness, 40•18	triggers of, 41•6–41•8
Federal securities regulation, 27 • 1–27 • 24	Fines tax treatment, 18•10–18•11
accountant liability, 35•8–35•9	Fisher's exact test, 38∙12
aggregate damages to class, 27•8,	Fit for purpose, 7 • 18
27 • 15 – 27 • 16, 27 • 22	Fixed costs, 8•19, 8•20
but-for price line, 27 • 8, 27 • 12−27 • 15	account analysis, 8∙17
damages, 27 • 5–27 • 8, 27 • 15–27 • 17	cost behavior, 22∙7
event study, 27 • 8–27 • 12, 27 • 18–27 • 21	regression intercept as, 8•6
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act	short run cost behavior, 8•8
(1995), 27•3–27•5	total cost relationships, 8•2–8•5
Securities Act (1933), 27•2, 35•8–35•9	Fixed price, 33•5
Securities Act damages, 27 • 5−27 • 6	Forced liquidation value, 11•32
Securities Exchange Act (1934),	Forecasting, 9 • 25, 11 • 17 – 11 • 20
27•2–27•3, 35•8	Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA; 1977)
Securities Exchange Act damages,	24•2, 24•3, 29•3, 29•14–29•16,
27•6–27•8, 27•12	41•17, 43•2
trading models, 27 • 16–27 • 17,	deferred prosecution summaries,
27 • 22 – 27 • 24	29 • 27 – 29 • 31
Federal Trade Commission (FTC),	Forensic accounting services, 2•2, 41•2,
31 • 8 – 31 • 9	41 • 8−41 • 9, 44 • 20
Antitrust Guidelines for Licensing of	American Institute of Certified Public
Intellectual Property, 31 • 13	Accountants, 2•2, 2•12, 41•2

Forensic data collection, $15 \cdot 14 - 15 \cdot 17$ , $41 \cdot 9 - 41 \cdot 11$	mergers and acquisitions, 24•6–24•8 options value assessment, 36•26–36•27
international, 43 • 6–43 • 8, 43 • 14–43 • 15	"profit," 22•5
normalization and processing, 15•17–15•21	stock-based compensation, 36•11–36•14
Forensic imaging, 15•10, 15•15, 15•16, 43•4, 43•6, 43•14, 43•15	Generally accepted auditing standards (GAAS)
Foreseeability, 4•6, 4•7, 4•8, 4•11,	accountant liability, 35•3–35•4
35•6–35•7	damage causation testimony, 4•38
Franchising contract risks, 23•26	expert opinions, 2•6, 2•7
Fraud	financial statement fraud, 41•3–41•4
accountant liability, 35•7–35•8	management override of internal
auditor fraud, 27 • 5	controls, 36•24
common law fraud, 4•7–4•8	royalty vs. financial audits, 23 • 5-23 • 6
contract recission or reformation, 4•19	Generally accepted government auditing
damages for, 4•21	standards (GAGAS), 32•9
eDiscovery analytics, 15•25–15•26	Geographic markets, 31 • 4−31 • 5
executive compensation litigation, 36•4, 36•23–36•24	Glossaries, 8 • 20 – 8 • 25, 11 • 29 – 11 • 35, 22 • 5 – 22 • 7, 30 • 19, 33 • 2
executive stock options, 36•19–36•21	Going concerns, 11 • 8, 11 • 32
financial statement investigations,	Golden parachutes, 36•21–36•23
41 • 2-41 • 5, 41 • 17-41 • 23	Goldfeld-Quandt test, 9•7–9•8
fraud triangle, 15•25–15•26, 41•4–41•5	Good form, 30∙19
fraud-on-the-market doctrine, 28•3	Goodness of fit of models, 9•21,
fraudulent transfers, 25•17, 25•18–25•19	9•24–9•25 <i>,</i> 9•28
international investigations, 43 • 3-43 • 5	Goodwill, 11•32
marital fraud, 44•20	business value loss, 4 • 22-4 • 24
sampling use case law, 6•13–6•15	family law, 44•19
Sentencing Guidelines, 29 • 4–29 • 6	impairment of, 4•33–4•34
See also Health care fraud; Tax fraud	noncompete agreements, 37 • 6–37 • 7
Free cash flow, 11 • 15–11 • 16	trademark damage to, 19•29
<i>F</i> -test, 8 • 16−8 • 17, 9 • 18−9 • 19	Gordon growth model, 11 • 14
Funding risk, 30•16	Government contracting. See Federal
Future earnings, 4•23–4•24	contract disputes
	Grantee of rights, 23 • 2
Game theory for price effects, 19•15–19•16	compliance investigation reporting,
Gender discrimination, 38•4, 38•5, 38•6,	23•24
38•13, 38•21–38•25, 38•29–38•30	contract compliance investigation,
court opinions, 9 • 31–9 • 32, 9 • 33, 9 • 35,	23 • 8 – 23 • 9, 23 • 10, 23 • 11 – 23 • 15,
9•37, 9•40, 9•41, 9•44, 9•47, 9•48,	23 • 21 – 23 • 22
9•51, 9•54–9•55, 9•56, 9•58	Grantor of rights, 23 • 2
General and Administrative costs, 22 • 6 General collateral, 30 • 4, 30 • 19	contract compliance investigation, 23•7–23•10, 23•22
General exclusion orders (GEO), 21 • 8, 21 • 10, 21 • 12–21 • 15	Gross Upward Pricing Pressure Index (GUPPI), 31•11–31•12
General ledger data, 8∙9–8∙11	Guideline public companies, 11•21, 11•22,
Generally accepted accounting principles	11•32
(GAAP)	Hard 1d advantage C. F
asset-based valuation, 11 • 23–11 • 24	Hard drive imaging. <i>See</i> Forensic imaging
expert opinions, 2•6–2•7	Health care fraud, 42 • 1–42 • 17
fair value for financial reporting under, 11•5, 11•8	damages, 42•7, 42•10–42•14 expert testimony, 42•14–42•17

False Claims Act, 32 • 23–32 • 25,	Inflation, 10•2
42•4 <del>-</del> 42•17	Infringer's profit calculation, 22 • 1–22 • 12
reimbursement systems, 42•2–42•4	Injunction
sampling use, 6•13–6•15	antitrust statutory authority, 31 • 14–31 • 15
Hearsay evidence, 1•2, 1•9, 7•8	as nonmonetary remedy, 19•18–19•19
Hedging risk, 30 • 15	patent infringement, 20•14, 20•42
Hedonic damages, 13•8	trade secrets, 19•34–19•35
Herfindahl-Hirschman Index (HHI), 31•5,	Insurance claims
31•10	business interruption, 12•2–12•8 (see also
Heteroscedasticity, 9•7–9•10, 9•27,	Business interruption insurance)
9•37–9•38	claim as term, 12∙14
Highest and best use, 34•6	claim development, 12•11–12•13
Historical market risk premiums,	insurance contracts, 12•2–12•3
10 • 12 – 10 • 14	Insurance Services Office Standard
Home Mortgage Disclosure Act (HMDA;	Form, 12•4
1975), 39•5–39•6, 39•10,	loss adjustment, 12•9–12•10
39•11–39•13	Insurance for construction projects, 33•4
Homoscedasticity, 9•7	Intangible assets, 11•32
Hypothesis tests, 38•7, 39•8–39•9, 39•10	Intellectual property (IP)
Hypothetical Monopolist Test, 31 • 5, 31 • 11	antitrust laws, 31 • 13–31 • 14
Illian manting to 20.15	contract compliance investigations, 23•3
Idiosyncratic risk, 30•15	infringer's profit calculation, 22•1–22•12
Importation, 21•3	lost profits damages, 19•13–19•14,
Imputation, 6•7	19•16–19•17, 19•39
adjustment error, 7•13–7•14, 7•40	nonpatent vs. patent damages,
survey research, 7 • 6, 7 • 32, 7 • 41–7 • 42	19•16–19•19
Incentives for executives, 36•6–36•7	Section 337 investigations, 21 • 1–21 • 3
Income approach to business valuation,	See also Nonpatent intellectual property
11•9-11•20, 11•32	rights; Patent law; Section 337
Incremental cost, 8•1–8•25 basics, 8•2–8•5	investigations
cost behavior, 22•7	Interactive voice response (IVR) surveys, 7•38–7•39
cost terminology, 8 • 20 – 8 • 25, 22 • 5 – 22 • 7	
court opinions, 9 • 38–9 • 40	Interest rates, 16 • 9–16 • 12. See also Prejudg-
data idiosyncrasies, 8•8–8•11	ment interest
definition, 4•35, 8•21, 8•25	Internal Revenue Service and compensa-
estimating, 8 • 17 – 8 • 19	tion, 36 • 6, 36 • 10, 36 • 21. <i>See also</i> Tax fraud
marginal cost versus, 8•9	Internal validity, 7•27–7•28
regression analysis, 8•5–8•7, 8•11–8•17	International Centre for the Settlement of
Incremental profits, 20•29, 20•40, 22•1,	Investment Disputes (ICSID), 1•27,
22•8	1•28. 24•12
Indemnification, 24•9, 30•8	International Chamber of Commerce (ICC),
Independent compliance consultant (ICC),	1•20, 1•26, 24•12
29•1, 29•3, 29•10–29•16	International Institute for Conflict Preven-
Independent directors, 36•6	tion & Resolution (CPR Institute),
Independent private-sector inspectors	1•20, 1•24, 1•27
general (IPSIGs), 29•2	International investigations, 43•1–43•19
Independent review organizations (IROs),	alternative dispute resolution, 1•19–1•20,
29•2–29•3	1•26–1•29
Indicia of alter ego, 26•3–26•4, 26•6–26•16	dispute resolution clause, 1•18
Indirect costs, 8 • 21, 33 • 9 – 33 • 10	evidence gathering, 43•14–43•18
Inferential error, 7•12	international business, 43•1–43•2

International investigations (Continued) interviewing, 43•8–43•9, 43•15–43•18 planning investigation, 43•2–43•9	Legal holds for data preservation, 15•6–15•7 Legal malpractice damages, 5•21 Levered beta, 11•33
planning logistics, 43 • 9–43 • 13 reporting findings, 43 • 18–43 • 19	License fees vs. running royalties, 19•12–19•13
workspace, 43•13–43•14 International Trade Commission (ITC), 21•1–21•16	Licenses and contract compliance, 23•3 Licensing of patents, 20•19–20•23, 20•33–20•34, 20•38–20•39
ITC description, 21 • 1–21 • 2 remedies available, 21 • 8–21 • 10 remedy selection, 21 • 10–21 • 16	Life expectancy, 13•3 Likelihood of confusion, 7•7, 7•11, 7•16, 7•19, 19•6, 19•27
Section 337 basis for violation, 21 • 3–21 • 8 Section 337 description, 21 • 1–21 • 2	Limited exclusion orders (LEO), 21 • 8, 21 • 10–21 • 14
Internet surveys, $7 \cdot 22$ , $7 \cdot 32$ , $7 \cdot 39 - 7 \cdot 40$ Intervening causes, $4 \cdot 6 - 4 \cdot 7$	Limited liability corporations and alter ego, 26•16
Interviewer-administered questionnaires item nonresponse, 7•32, 7•35 measurement error, 7•11, 7•15, 7•34	Liquidated damages, 4•15, 33•12–33•13 Liquidation, 11•8, 25•7–25•8 Litigation process, 1•10–1•18
response rate and, 7 • 14−7 • 15, 7 • 29, 7 • 35, 7 • 36	business interruption insurance, 12•15, 12•18–12•19
training, 7•3, 7•5, 7•17, 7•29, 7•34 Intrinsic value, 11•5, 11•7, 11•32, 36•26	federal contract disputes, 32•26–32•28 investigation during, 23•23
Inventory roll-forward analysis, 23•13–23•14	See also Alternative dispute resolution (ADR)
Investment guidelines, 30•9–30•12, 30•19 Investment value, 11•5, 11•6–11•7, 11•32	Locked box pricing mechanism, 24•10, 24•11
IP. See Intellectual property	Log-linear models, 9•16–9•17
Item nonresponse, 7•31–7•32, 7•35	Longitudinal surveys, 7•16
imputation, 6 • 7, 7 • 6, 7 • 13–7 • 14, 7 • 32, 7 • 41–7 • 42	Lost earnings of persons, 13•1–13•16 actual or mitigating earnings, 13•9–13•10 children involved, 13•14
Judgment asset, 16•4	claim components, 13•4–13•8
Judgments, 1•17	data for analysis, 13•1–13•4
Jury trials, 1•5, 1•8–1•9, 1•15, 1•17, 1•23	discounting to present value,
Justifiable reliance, 35•15–35•16	13•15–13•16
Key person discount, 11•33	employee vs. self-insured, 13•13 period of loss, 13•15
Klein conspiracy, 40 • 5	personal consumption expenditures,
Kovel accountant, 40•17, 40•18	13•10–13•11
Lanham (Trademark) Act (1946)	survival vs. wrongful death action, 13•12–13•13
case law on bringing claim, 19∙8	taxes, 13•11–13•12
damages issues, 19•26	undocumented workers, 13 • 13 – 13 • 14
defendant's profits, 22•2	Lost profits damages, 4•14
description, 19 • 26, 19 • 37, 22 • 3–22 • 4	business value versus, 4∙24,
false advertising, 19•7–19•8, 19•26	11 • 26–11 • 27
injunction as resolution, 19∙18	claim development, 4•28–4•37
prejudgment interest, 19•33–19•34	copyright infringement, 19•21, 19•39
registering trademark, 19•6, 22•3	intellectual property infringement,
Least absolute deviations (LAD), 9•13	19•13–19•14, 19•16–19•17, 19•39
Legal and regulatory risk, 30•16	modeling, 4•22–4•24
Legal fees. See Fee arrangements	patent convoyed sales, 20•36–20•37

patent entire market value rule,	Mitigating vs. extra expenses, 12•5–12•6
20•34–20•37	Mixed costs, 22 • 7–22 • 8
patent infringement, 20•2, 20•7–20•15	Mixed-mode surveys, 7•40
punitive damages, 17•6–17•8	Modeling
trademark infringement, 19•27–19•30,	damages, 4•21–4•28
19•39	event study, 27 • 18–27 • 21
	forensic data analysis, 15•30
Mail surveys, 7•37–7•38	hypothesis testing vs. prediction, 34•16
Manufacturing costs, 22 • 5–22 • 6	model risk, 30∙15
Margin (securities), 30•19	price effects, 19•15–19•16
Margin of error in sampling, 6•3, 6•6, 7•13	shareholder trading, 27 • 16–27 • 17,
Marginal cost, 4•35, 8•9, 8•21, 8•25	27 • 22 – 27 • 24
Market approach to valuation, 11∙9,	See also Regression analysis; Sampling
11•20–11•22, 11•33	Moderated settlement conferences, 1•23
Market definition, 31 • 4−31 • 5	Mode-related measurement error, 7 • 12
Market efficiency in securities class action,	Monitorships, 29 • 1–29 • 17, 29 • 21–29 • 35
28•3–28•6	court decisions, 29 • 10−29 • 14
Market power, 31 • 5, 31 • 16–31 • 17	description, 29 • 1–29 • 2, 29 • 16–29 • 17
Market risk, 10•2, 10•4–10•6, 11•35	DOJ and SEC agreements, 29•3–29•9
Market share, 31•4–31•5	history of, 29•2–29•3
Matched pair testing, 39•11	monitor's governance recommendations,
Material adverse change (MAC), 24•9–24•10,	29•21–29•26
24 • 24 – 24 • 25	recent overview, 29•14–29•16
Materiality, 24 • 18–24 • 19, 27 • 10–27 • 12	summaries of deferred prosecution
Mean (normal distribution), 38•9, 38•12, 39•9	agreements, 29•27–29•35
Mean imputation, 7∙41	Monopolies, technology vs. economic, 20•2
Measure of interest, 6•3	Monopolization in Sherman Act, 31 • 6–31 • 7
Measurement date, 5•5, 5•8	Monopsony power, 31•12
Measurement error, 7•11–7•12	Monte Carlo simulations, 4•26
Mediation, 1•18, 1•21–1•22	Most favored nations provisions, 23•4,
Medical expense tax treatment, 18•5	23•22-23•23
Mergers and acquisitions (M&A), 24•1–24•35	Multicollinearity, 8 • 15, 9 • 5–9 • 7, 9 • 27, 9 • 41
accounting guidance, 24•6–24•8,	Multistage samples, 7•27
24•15–24•17, 24•24	Native American trusts campling use 6.16
business valuation via, 11 • 22, 11 • 33	Native American trusts sampling use, 6•16 Near privity, 35•6
contract provisions, 24•4–24•14	Negligence, 4 • 4 – 4 • 7, 35 • 4 – 35 • 7
court decisions, 24 • 13 – 24 • 14	Net present value, 11 • 34, 20 • 41
current transaction market, 24 • 3 – 24 • 4	Net profit, 22•8
dispute resolution, 24 • 11−24 • 14, 24 • 25−24 • 29	Noncash collateral, 30•5
earn-out clauses, 24•5–24•6, 24•20–24•23	Noncompete agreements (NCAs),
expert services, 24•2, 24•29–24•35	37•1–37•62
issues of control, 24 • 23 – 24 • 24	bibliography, 37•7–37•8
Merger Guidelines (DOJ), 31•10–31•13	conflicts inherent in, 37•1–37•2
post-closing adjustments, 24•4–24•5,	employee contracts and, 37 • 5–37 • 6
24•14–24•20, 24•23	sale of business and, 37 • 6–37 • 7
transaction life cycle, 24•2–24•3	state by state, 37 • 9–37 • 62
Method patents, 20•39	state favor vs. disfavor, 37•2–37•3
Missing data in survey, 7•31–7•32, 7•35	state issues, 37 • 3–37 • 5
imputation, $6 \cdot 7$ , $7 \cdot 6$ , $7 \cdot 13 - 7 \cdot 14$ , $7 \cdot 32$ ,	Noncontacts of survey, 7•29
7•41–7•42	Noncontinuing expenses, 12•5

Noncoverage error, 7∙13	antitrust laws, 31 •13–31 •14
Nondiversifiable risk. See Market risk	book of wisdom, 5•11–5•12
Nonmanufacturing costs, 22•6	comparison of IP remedies, 19•37–19•43
Nonpatent intellectual property rights,	contract compliance investigations, 23•3
19•1–19•43	copyrights versus, 19∙3, 19∙5,
copyright, 19•2–19•5, 19•19–19•26	19•37–19•43
court guidance, 19•19	court guidance, 19•19, 20•5–20•6,
damages measurement, 19•10–19•16	20•42-20•43
false advertising, 19∙7, 19∙8	damages, 20•2–20•5
harm to owner, 19•10–19•11	damages ex post case law, 5•19–5•20
nonmonetary remedies, 19•18–19•19	design patent infringer's profit,
patent damages versus, 19•16–19•19	22•1–22•12
property definition, 19•2	design patents, 5 • 20, 20 • 4, 20 • 40,
property rights definition, 19•2	22•4–22•5
trade secrets, 19•8–19•10, 19•34–19•35	dual awards, 20•33–20•34
trademark, 19•5–19•8, 19•26–19•34	entire market value rule, 20•34–20•37
Nonphysical personal injury claims tax	<i>ex ante</i> analysis, 5•5, 5•6
treatment, 18•6–18•7, 18•9	fair, reasonable, and non-discriminatory
Nonprobability vs. probability samples,	(FRAND), 20•38–20•39
7•17–7•18	infringement and harm, 20•5
Nonproduction costs, 22•6	injunctive relief, 20•14, 20•42
Nonresponse error, 7 • 13, 7 • 14–7 • 17, 7 • 20,	interest on damages, 20•41
7•28–7•32	lost profits damages, 20 • 2, 20 • 7–20 • 15
Normal distribution, 38 • 8–38 • 9, 39 • 9	marking and notice, 20•5
Null hypothesis, 8•16	nonmonetary remedies, 19•18–19•19
	nonpatent damages versus, 19•16–19•19
Obsolescence, 34•7	patents, 20•2
One- vs. two-tailed tests, 9 • 23, 9 • 51–9 • 52	private information knowable, 5•5
One-time costs, 33•10	process/method patents, 20•39
Open loan, 30•19	property definition, 19•2
Open source copyright, 19•3	property rights definition, 19•2
Open-ended questions, 7 • 32–7 • 33, 43 • 17	royalty base, 20•33
Operating losses as damages, 4•14,	Section 337 basis for violation, 21•3
4•22–4•24	standards-essential patents, 20 • 38-20 • 39,
Operating profits, 22•8	31•14
Operational failures in securities	term of patent, 20•4
financing, 30•6	trade secrets versus, 19•9
Operationalizing the constructs, 7•32	Penalties tax treatment, 18•10–18•11
Opportunity cost, 8•24, 10•2–10•5, 36•5	Period costs, 8•22, 22•6
Orderly liquidation, 11•8, 11•34	Period of indemnity, 12•3, 12•7,
Ordinary least squares (OLS), 9•13. See also	12•16–12•17
Regression analysis	Period of loss, 13•15
Origin of claim test, 18•2–18•3, 18•7,	Personal consumption expenditures,
18•9–18•10, 18•11	13•10–13•11
Outlay cost, 8•21, 8•24	Personal information rights, 1•31n17,
Outliers, 9•12–9•13, 9•27, 9•37	15•14, 43•15
Out-of-court settlements, 25 • 3–25 • 4	Personal injury/malpractice
Out-of-pocket damages, 4•13	claim components, 13•4–13•8
Overall capitalization rate, 34•23–34•24	personal injuries interpretation, 18•5
-	tax considerations, 13•12
Parens patriae cases, 31 • 14, 31 • 20	taxes, nonphysical injury, 18•6–18•7,
Patent law, 20•2–20•43	18•9

taxes, physical injury, 18∙4–18∙6	Process patents, 20∙39
taxes, structured settlements, 18•8–18•9	Processing error, 7•12
Physical personal injury claims, 18•4–18•6,	Product costs, 8 • 18, 8 • 22, 22 • 7
18•8–18•9	Product liability sampling use,
Pilot samples, 6∙5	6•19 <b>–</b> 6•20
Pilot test of survey, 7 • 5, 7 • 6, 7 • 33	Product markets, 31 • 4−31 • 5
Plan exclusivity period, 25•9	Production costs, 22 • 5–22 • 6
Policy significance, 39•10	Productions of data, 15•30–15•32
Polynomial models, 9•17	Professional and noncompete agreements,
Ponzi schemes, 35•2, 35•18	37∙6
Population statistic vs. sample statistic,	Profit calculation of IP infringer,
7•13, 38•8. See also Sampling;	22•1–22•8, 22•13
Survey research	case law, 22∙9–22∙11
Potential competition, 31•4	nexus analysis, 22•11–22•12
Practical vs. statistical significance, 9•24	Profit definition, 22 • 5
Precision in sampling, 6•3, 6•4	Profit losses. See Lost profits damages
Predictive power of models, 9•22	Profit measures, 22•8
Preferences in bankruptcy, 25•17–25•18	Promotion discrimination, 38•19–38•25
Prejudgment interest, 16•1–16•17	Property, 19•2
close corporations, 16•16–16•17	apportionment, 44•9, 44•10,
currency conversion, 16•15	44•13-44•18
Delaware law, 16•12	family law, 44•2–44•4, 44•6–44•10
estimating floating rate, 16•9–16•11	property rights, 19•2
floating interest rate, 16•8–16•9	tracing, 44•8, 44•10–44•13
individual plaintiffs, 16•16–16•17	transmutations, 44•13
intellectual property, 19•43	See also Intellectual property (IP)
interest rate selection, $16 \cdot 3 - 16 \cdot 8$	Proximate cause, 4•10–4•11, 4•25, 19•8
multiple defendants, 16•14	Proximity damages in real estate, 34•3
multiplier and taxes, 16•12–16•14	Public interest factors (Section 337),
multiplier as crux, 16•3	21•15–21•16
multiplier calculation, 16•11–16•12	Pump and dump strategy, 36•19–36•21
patent infringement, 20•41	Punitive damages, 17•1–17•22
prejudgment period, 16•11	description, 4•12, 4•18, 17•1–17•2
subsequent harms, 16•15–16•16	expert's role, 17 • 3–17 • 9
trademark infringement, 19•33–19•34,	guidance, 17•9–17•20
19•43	insurance and, 17•8
value of, 16•1–16•2	
Premise of value, 11 • 8, 11 • 34	lost profits damages, 17•6–17•8
	"malice, oppression or fraud," 17•2
Prenegotiated chapter 11 petition, 25•10	patent infringement, 20•2
Preparate of syldense 4.7.4.8	state law differences, 17•21–17•22
Preponderance of evidence, 4•7–4•8	subjectivity of, 17•1–17•3
Price multiples for valuation, 11•22, 11•34	tax treatment, 18•5–18•6, 18•7
Price risk, 30•15	trade secrets, 19•35
Price-fixing agreements, 31•6	trademark infringement, 19•34
Prima facie evidence and significance level, 9•23	Purchase price and harm establishment, 14•11
Private judging, 1•23	Purposive sampling, 7∙18
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act (1995), 27•3–27•5	<i>p</i> -value. <i>See</i> Significance level (α)
Privity, 35•5–35•6	Qualifications of experts, 2•6, 2•7–2•13
Probability samples, 7•17–7•18, 7•25–7•27	court opinions, 9•27
Procedure of courts, 1•9	Daubert ruling, 2•6, 3•3–3•5

Qualifications of experts (Continued)	patent convoyed sales, 20•37
Federal Rules of Evidence Rule 702, 3•2,	patent entire market value rule,
<b>3•4</b> , <b>3•1</b> 0– <b>3•1</b> 3	20•34–20•37
survey research, 7•9–7•10	patent infringement, 19•39, 20•2, 20•6,
Quantum meruit theory, 33•18–33•19	20•15–20•32
Quasi-community property, 44•3	trade secret infringement, 19•35, 19•39
Questionnaire design, 7•5, 7•11,	trademark infringement, 19•29–19•30,
7•32–7•34	19•33, 19•39
<i>Qui tam</i> actions, 32•24–32•25, 41•7,	Rebate rate, 30•19
41 • 16–41 • 17, 42 • 4, 42 • 7	Reciprocal models, 9•17
Quota sampling, 7•18	Recission of contract, 4•13, 4•18–4•19
	Recovery actions in bankruptcy, 25•17,
R squared $(R^2)$ , $9 \cdot 24 - 9 \cdot 25$	25•27–25•31
court opinions, 9•28, 9•43–9•45	Redlining, 39•23–39•31
goodness of fit of models, 9•21	Reformation of contract, 4•18–4•19
incremental cost, 8•6, 8•7	Refusals of survey, 7•29
securities event studies, 27•21	Regression analysis, 9•1–9•2
Racial discrimination, 38•4, 38•5, 38•6, 38•18	accounting data issues, 8•11–8•17
court opinions, 9 • 33, 9 • 35, 9 • 43 – 9 • 44,	antitrust damages quantification,
9•46, 9•48–9•49, 9•51, 9•56–9•57,	31•18–31•19
9•58	court opinions of, 9•27–9•58
redlining, 39 • 23 – 39 • 31	damages, 4•25–4•26
Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Orga-	econometrics model, 9•3–9•5,
nizations Act (RICO; 1970), 19•10,	9•21–9•22, 9•27, 9•36
19•19, 29•2	econometrics variables, 9 • 13–9 • 15
Random assignment, 7 • 27–7 • 28	econometrics violations, 9•5–9•13
Random digit dialing sampling frames,	employment litigation, 38•13
7•19, 7•21	fair lending, 39•10–39•11, 39•18–39•19,
Random number generator, 6•4–6•5, 7•22	39 • 21 – 39 • 22
Random selection in sampling, 6•4–6•5	harm establishment, 14•10–14•11
Ratio method of regression analysis, 6•7	hypothesis testing vs. prediction, 34•16
Real estate litigation, 34 • 1−34 • 28	imputation, regression-based, 7•41
commercial environmental disputes,	imputing missing values, 6•7
34•21–34•28	incremental cost, 8 • 5 – 8 • 7, 8 • 11 – 8 • 17
commercial property, 34•5, 34•6	pay disparities, 38•28, 38•29
direct vs. indirect impairments, 34•3	real estate value diminution,
environmental conditions described,	34•12–34•14
34•2–34•3	regression equation specification error
insolvency matters, 34•4	test, 9 • 15
lender liability matters, 34 • 3−34 • 5	regression estimate of the population,
redlining, 39 • 23 – 39 • 31	6•12
residential environmental disputes,	securities event studies, 27 • 18-27 • 21
34•12–34•21	time series analysis, 11•18, 11•19
residential property, 34 • 5, 34 • 6	Regulatory proceedings against
retrospective appraisals, 34•4,	accountant, 35•9
34•20–34•21	Relation mapping, 15•29
valuation, 34 • 5–34 • 12	Relevance of expert testimony, 3•9–3•10
See also Fair lending litigation	Reliability of expert testimony, 3•5–3•9
Real risk-free rate of interest, 10 • 2	Reliability of surveys, 7 • 11−7 • 14,
Reasonable royalties	<b>7</b> •17– <b>7</b> •18
copyright infringement, 19•21, 19•39	Reliance damages, 4•12–4•18
lost profits versus, 19 • 13−19 • 14	Remedy of rescission, 4•13, 4•18–4•19

Remedy of restitution, $4 \cdot 12 - 4 \cdot 13$ , $4 \cdot 15 - 4 \cdot 18$	extrapolation, 6•11–6•13, 23•21, 42•15–42•16
Reorganization in bankruptcy, 25•8–25•9 Repair costs, 4•13	health care fraud, 6•13–6•15, 42•14–42•16
Representation of sample, 38•7	imputation, 6 • 7, 7 • 6, 7 • 13−7 • 14, 7 • 32,
Requests for proposal (RFP), 30•5, 30•7,	7•40, 7•41–7•42
30•19, 32•3	margin of error, 6•3, 6•6, 7•13
Residual analysis, 9•25	measure of interest, 6•3, 6•6
Residual return in event study, 27•10	Native American trusts, 6•16
Respondent-related measurement error,	patent infringement, 20•33
7•11–7•12, 7•33–7•34	precision, 6•3, 6•4, 6•6
Response rates to surveys, 7•30	probability vs. nonprobability samples,
Restatement rule, 35•7	7•17–7•18
Restitution damages, 4•12–4•18	random selection, 6•4–6•5
Restraint of trade, 31•3–31•6	sample design, 6•4–6•7
Retainers, 2•14	sample design, surveys, 7•2, 7•3, 7•5,
Return of price as damages, 4•15	7•17–7•25
Revenue analysis in damages claim,	sample size, 6•2, 6•3–6•4, 6•6, 7•5,
4•34–4•35	7•22–7•25
Reverse <i>Christian</i> doctrine, 32•4	sample size and court opinions, 9•28,
Rights in contract compliance, 23 • 3–23 • 4	9•45–9•46
Risk-free rate of interest, 10•2, 10•3	sample size and item nonresponse, 7•31
Rollover risk, 30•16	sample size and standard deviation, 38•9
Royalties, 19•12–19•14	sampling methods, 6 • 5, 6 • 8 – 6 • 11
antitrust and patent royalties, 31•14	small-sample statistical tests, 38•12
court guidance, 19•19	theory behind, 6•2–6•7
patent court guidance, 20•5–20•6, 20•23,	variable being measured, 6•3
20•33	welfare payments, 6•15–6•16
prices in a but-for world, 19•14	Sampling error, 7•6, 7•12–7•14, 7•20
royalty audits, 23•2–23•6	Sampling frames, $6 \cdot 5$ , $7 \cdot 3$ , $7 \cdot 5$
See also Reasonable royalties	cluster sampling and, 6•10
Rule of reason, 31•3–31•4	coverage error, 7•13
Rules governing litigation, 1•9–1•10	survey sample design, 7•19–7•22
reacts governing nugation, 1 > 1 10	types commonly used, 7 • 20–7 • 22
S corporations and alter ego, 26•16–26•17	Sampling proportional to size, 6•5,
Sale-price-to-list-price ratio, 34•17–34•18	6•10–6•11
Sales transaction investigation, 23•12–23•16	Sarbanes-Oxley Act (SOX; 2002)
Sales velocity, 34•18	accountant liability, 35•4, 35•9, 35•16
Sample statistic vs. population statistic,	executive compensation, 36•6, 36•15
7•13, 38•8	fraud, 36•20, 41•7
Sampling, 6 • 1 − 6 • 21	post-SOX deferred prosecution agree-
admissibility of, 6•21	ments, 29•11–29•14
antitrust damages quantification, 31 • 20	Satisficing respondent error, 7•34
case law, 6•13–6•21	Schedules in bankruptcy, 25•12–25•13
class certification via, 6•19–6•20,	Scheduling logic, 33 • 20–33 • 21
14•12–14•13	Scienter, 19•17, 25•17, 26•19n12, 27•2,
confidence level, 6•3, 6•6	28•6, 36•4, 42•20n47
description, 6•1–6•2	Section 337 investigations, 21 • 1–21 • 16
discovery process use of, 6•20–6•21	basis for violation, 21•3–21•8
employment litigation, 6•17–6•19,	expert services, 21•3
38•7–38•13	remedies available, 21 • 8–21 • 10
errors of representation, 7 • 12–7 • 14	remedy selection, 21 • 10–21 • 16

Securities Act (1933), 27 • 2, 27 • 5–27 • 6, 35 • 8–35 • 9	trading models, 27 • 16–27 • 17, 27 • 22–27 • 24
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)	Self-administered questionnaires, 7•29, 7•32, 7•35, 7•36
executive compensation, 36•8	Self-reported data, 7•33–7•34
filings for information, 11•21, 11•22, 27•23, 28•9	Selling, General, and Administrative (SG&A) costs, 22•6, 33•10
financial statement fraud, 41•7,	Selling costs, 22•6
41 • 16-41 • 17, 41 • 18-41 • 19	Semifixed cost, 8 • 23, 22 • 7
monitorship agreements, 29•3–29•9,	Semilog models, 9•17
29•14–29•16	Semivariable cost, 8•23
Securities Exchange Act (1934), 27•2	Sensitivity testing, 9•18–9•21
Securities borrowing and lending pro-	Separately managed accounts, 30•9
grams (SBLs), 30•5, 30•6–30•7	Serial correlation court opinions,
Securities class certification, 28•1–28•14	9•46–9•47
10b-5 class actions, 28•6–28•9	Shareholder immunity and alter ego, 26•2
ERISA stock-drop class actions,	Shareholder rights and fair value, 11•5,
28 • 9 – 28 • 11	11•7
federal class action requirements, 28•1–28•2	Sherman Antitrust Act (1890), 31 • 2, 31 • 3−31 • 7, 31 • 15
intraclass conflicts, 28 • 6–28 • 11	Short sales, 30 • 1, 30 • 2, 30 • 19
predominance of individual vs. common	Significance level (α)
issues, 28•3–28•6	court .05 level, 38•9, 38•10, 39•9
securities financing litigation,	standards of proof and, 9•22–9•23
30 • 13 – 30 • 15	Z-scores, 38•9–38•11, 39•18
Supreme Court decisions,	Simple random sampling (SRS), $6 \cdot 5$ , $6 \cdot 8$ ,
28•11–28•14	<b>7 • 25</b> , <b>7 • 4</b> 3
Securities Exchange Act (1934),	Sine qua non test, $4 \cdot 4 - 4 \cdot 5$ , $4 \cdot 8$
27•2–27•3, 35•8	Snowball sampling, 7•18
auditor requirements, 41 • 6–41 • 7	Social desirability, 7•33
damages, 27 • 6–27 • 8, 27 • 12	Social media data preservation, 15•13
Securities finance disputes, 30 • 1–30 • 16 litigation case types, 30 • 10–30 • 16	Social Security benefits in lost earnings, 13•7–13•8
securities finance description,	Special interest purchasers, 11 • 35
30•1–30•10	Specials (securities), 30•4, 30•19
securities finance litigation, 30•2–30•3	Specification error, 7•11, 7•32–7•33
term definitions, 30•19	Spousal support, 44•6
Securities regulation, 27 • 1–27 • 24	Squeeze risk, 30•16
accountant liability, 35 • 8–35 • 9	Standard deviation, 27 • 21, 38 • 8 – 38 • 9,
aggregate damages to class, 27•8,	39•9
27•15–27•16, 27•22	Standards of proof, 4•7, 9•22–9•23
but-for price line, 27•8, 27•12–27•15	Standards of value, 11•5–11•8, 11•35
damages, 27 • 5 – 27 • 8, 27 • 15 – 27 • 17	Standards-essential patents (SEPs),
event study, 27 • 8 – 27 • 12, 27 • 18 – 27 • 21	20•38–20•39, 31•14
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act (1995), 27•3–27•5	Standard-setting organizations (SSOs), 20•38–20•39, 24•6–24•7
Securities Act (1933), 27 • 2, 35 • 8 – 35 • 9	State courts, 1•8, 3•4–3•5, 17•16–17•18
Securities Act damages, 27 • 5–27 • 6	States
Securities Exchange Act (1934),	federal district courts, 1•6–1•7
27•2–27•3, 35•8	noncompete agreements, 37 • 9–37 • 62
Securities Exchange Act damages,	property in family law, 44•2–44•3
27•6–27•8, 27•12	punitive damages, $17 \cdot 21 - 17 \cdot 22$

Statistical analysis	expert qualifications, 7∙9–7∙10
court opinions, 9•27–9•58	litigation use, 7•7–7•8
employment litigation, 38 • 6–38 • 13 fair lending, 39 • 8–39 • 11, 39 • 20–39 • 23	nonresponse error, 7 • 13, 7 • 14–7 • 17, 7 • 20, 7 • 28–7 • 32
fair mortgage servicing, 39•31–39•33	planning stage, 7 • 2, 7 • 15–7 • 17
graphical depiction, 38 • 24–38 • 25	postsurvey adjustments, 7 • 40-7 • 43
hiring issues, 38•14–38•19	probability vs. nonprobability samples,
pay disparities, 38•28–38•32	7•17–7•18
promotion practices, 38 • 19–38 • 25	process overview, 7 • 2−7 • 7
redlining, 39 • 23 – 39 • 31	purpose of survey, 7∙15–7•16
termination of employment, 38 • 25 – 38 • 28	questionnaire design, 7 • 5, 7 • 32–7 • 34
underwriting discrimination, 39•14–39•20	respondent eligibility screening, 7•33 response rates, 7•30
See also Sampling	results discussion, 7•6–7•7
Statistical significance	sample design, 7 • 2, 7 • 3, 7 • 5, 7 • 17–7 • 32
court opinions, 9•28, 9•47–9•49	sample size, 7•5, 7•22–7•25, 7•31
policy significance versus, 39•10	sampling frames, 6•5, 6•10, 7•3, 7•5,
practical significance versus, 9•24	7•13, 7•19–7•22
securities event studies, 27 • 20–27 • 21	survey definition, 7•2
Statistical testing of validity, 8•16	survey modes, 7 • 5
Statutory damages	Total Survey Error framework,
copyright infringement, 19•25–19•26,	7•10–7•14
19•41	See also Sampling
patent damages, 20•41	Survival action vs. wrongful death,
trademark infringement, 19•33–19•34,	13•12–13•13
19•41	System profiles (data management), 15•7,
Step cost, 8 • 23, 22 • 7	15•8
Stock options, 36•16–36•21, 36•26–36•28	Systematic random samples, 7 • 25
Stratified sampling, 6•5, 6•8–6•10,	Systemic risk, 30•16
7•25– <b>7</b> •26, <b>7</b> •44	
Structured settlements tax treatment,	Target population of survey, 7 • 18–7 • 19,
18•8–18•9	7•33. See also Sampling frames
Subpoenas, 1•14	Tax considerations
Subsequent harms and prejudgment inter-	avoidance vs. evasion, 40 • 1−40 • 2
est, 16•15–16•16	business valuation, 11 •15–11 •16
Substantial factor test, 4•5	contract compliance investigations,
Substantive consolidation, 26 • 15	23•20
Supply-side substitution, 31 • 4	deduction of legal fees, 18•11–18•12
Supreme Court of the United States, 1•7	discovery of tax returns, 13•2
antitrust, 31 • 2, 31 • 15	dividend arbitrage, 30•15–30•16
patent infringement, 20•6	evasion, 40 • 1–40 • 2, 40 • 3–40 • 4
punitive damages guidance, 17∙9–17∙16	fines and penalties, $18 \cdot 10 - 18 \cdot 11$
securities class certification, 28•11–28•14	lost earnings of persons, 13•11–13•12
Survey research, 7 • 1−7 • 45	prejudgment interest, 16•12–16•14
admissibility of, 7∙8–7∙9	punitive damages, 17•9
class certification via, 14∙12	tax court, 1•7
cost-benefit trade-offs, 7 • 14-7 • 15	See also Tax fraud; Tax treatment of dam-
data analysis, 7•6, 7•43–7•45	ages
data collection, $7 \cdot 5 - 7 \cdot 6$ , $7 \cdot 14 - 7 \cdot 15$ ,	Tax fraud, 40 • 1−40 • 23
7•35– <b>7•</b> 40	avoidance vs. evasion, 40 • 1−40 • 2
description, 7•1–7•2	badges of fraud, 40 • 6, 40 • 11−40 • 13,
design of survey, 7 • 16–7 • 17	40 • 23

Tax fraud (Continued)	time-related costs, 33•10
burden of proof, 40 • 5–40 • 6	trade secrets, 19•9, 19•38
civil vs. criminal, 40 • 2, 40 • 3, 40 • 4,	trademark, 19•6, 19•7, 19•38
40 • 5 – 40 • 6, 40 • 7, 40 • 16	valuation date, 11 • 8–11 • 9, 11 • 35
defense team, $40 \cdot 3$ , $40 \cdot 17$ , $40 \cdot 18$	Time element insurance, 12•3
expert services, 40 • 16–40 • 23	Time series analysis, 11 • 18, 11 • 19
government process, 40 • 13–40 • 16	Time value of money
historical accountant, 40 • 16–40 • 17	damages, 5•6, 5•9, 5•11
most common tax crimes, 40 • 3−40 • 5	damages claim, 4 • 24 – 4 • 25, 4 • 36 – 4 • 37,
standard of review, 40•16	5•2
tax deficiency, 40 • 6–40 • 11	options, 36•26
Tax treatment of damages, 18•1–18•12	Tobacco litigation sampling use,
by claim type, 18•4–18•8	6•16–6•17
deduction of legal fees, 18•11–18•12	Tort law, 4•8, 4•10
description, 4•37, 18•1–18•2	Total cost relationships, 8 • 2−8 • 5, 8 • 17−
fines and penalties, $18 \cdot 10 - 18 \cdot 11$	8•19
origin of claim test, 18•2–18•3, 18•7,	Total invested capital, 11•10–11•11
18•9–18•10, 18•11	Total offset method, 13•16
payments by payor, 18•9–18•11	Total Survey Error (TSE) framework,
structured settlements, 18•8–18•9	<b>7</b> •10 <b>–7</b> •15
substantiation of, 18•3–18•4	Tracing property, 44 • 8, 44 • 10 – 44 • 13
Telephone communication analysis, 15•29,	Trade secrets, 19•8–19•10, 19•34
15•30	comparison of IP remedies, 19•37–19•43
Telephone surveys, 7 • 14−7 • 15, 7 • 19−7 • 20,	contract compliance investigations, 23•3
7•21, 7•34, 7•36–7•39. <i>See also</i>	damages issues, 19•34–19•35
Interviewer-administered question-	injunctions, 19•19
naires	patents versus, 19•9, 19•37–19•43
Term glossaries, 8•20–8•25, 11•29–11•35,	Trademark Act (1946). See Lanham (Trade-
22 • 5 – 22 • 7, 30 • 19, 33 • 2	mark) Act (1946)
Term loan, 30•19	Trademark law
Term structure, 10•3, 16•8–16•9	comparison of IP remedies, 19•37-19•43
Testimony, 3 • 13−3 • 21. See also <i>Daubert</i>	contract compliance investigations, 23•3
challenge; Expert testimony	damages issues, 19•26–19•34
Time considerations	distinctiveness, 19•6
copyright, 19•3, 19•38	infringement, 19•6, 19•8, 22•3–22•4
cut-off date, 24•17–24•18	infringer's profit calculation, 22 • 1–22 • 12
damages, 4 • 24 – 4 • 25, 4 • 36 – 4 • 37, 5 • 2,	injunctions, 19•19
5•6, 5•9, 5•11	likelihood of confusion, 7 • 7, 7 • 11, 7 • 16,
delay of construction, 33 • 11–33 • 13,	<b>7</b> •19, 19•6, 19•27
33 • 20 – 33 • 22	lost profits damages, 19•27–19•30, 19•39
earn-out period, 24•21–24•22	trademark registration, 19•6, 22•3
health care fraud, 42•16–42•17	trademarks, 19•5–19•8, 22•3–22•4
lost earnings of persons, 13•15–13•16	Transmutations, 44•13
noncompete agreements, 37•3, 37•4,	Treatment group, 7 • 27–7 • 28
37•5, 37•6	Trial procedure, 1•15–1•16
patent, 19•38, 20•4, 20•39, 20•41, 20•42	Trustees in bankruptcy, 25•7–25•8
period costs, 22•6	<i>t</i> -statistic, 8•6, 38•30
plan exclusivity period, 25•9	<i>T</i> -tests, 38 • 12, 38 • 28, 39 • 10
prejudgment interest, 16•11–16•12	Turnover ratio in real estate, 34•18
Section 337 investigations, 21•2	Two- vs. one-tailed tests, $9 \cdot 23$ , $9 \cdot 51 - 9 \cdot 52$
tax fraud, $40 \cdot 21$	Type I/II errors, 9•22

Undamaged earnings, 13•4–13•5 equity valuation, 11•11–11•12 Underwriting discrimination, 39•14–39•20 executive compensation disputes and, Undocumented worker lost earnings, 36 • 25 13 • 13 – 13 • 14 glossary of terms, 11 • 29–11 • 35 Uniform Contract Format (UCF), 32 • 3, premise of value, 11•8, 11•34 real estate, 34 • 5 – 34 • 12 32•4, 32•31 Unit cost, 8•18 as retrospective, 34•4 Unit nonresponse, 7 • 28–7 • 31 securities but-for price line, 27 • 8, Unit price, 33•5 27 • 12 – 27 • 15 U.S. Census Department, 13•3, 13•9, 13•14 specialty certification, 11 • 27–11 • 28 U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Cirstandards, 11 • 4–11 • 5, 11 • 28 cuit, 1•7–1•8, 21•2 subject of valuation, 11•10–11•11 U.S. Court of Federal Claims, 1.8 valuation date, 11 • 8–11 • 9, 11 • 35 U.S. Department of Health and Human value, 11•5–11•8 Services (HHS), 29•2–29•3 value and jurisdiction, 11•6 value diminution, residential property, U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD), 39•4, 39•7-34 • 12 – 34 • 21 39•8 See also Business valuation U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ) Variable costs, 4•35, 8•20, 8•23, Antitrust Guidelines for Licensing of Intel-8 • 25, 22 • 7 *lectual Property*, 31 • 13 Variance, 6 • 6, 7 • 23, 9 • 7−9 • 10 Venues, 1 • 7, 1 • 8, 1 • 18, 24 • 25 deferred prosecution agreements, 29 • 1 – 29 • 2 Verbatims, 7•33 fair lending, 39•2, 39•3, 39•27 Verdicts, 1•17 financial statement fraud, 41 • 17 Voting control, 11 • 35 Horizontal Merger Guidelines, 31 • 4– Wage and hour litigation, 38 • 30−38 • 32 31•5 Merger Guidelines, 31 • 10–31 • 13 Weighted average cost of capital (WACC), 10 • 18, 10 • 19, 11 • 35, 20 • 41 monitorships, 29•3–29•9, 29•14–29•16 Weighting survey data, 7•42, 9•58 Office of the U.S. Trustee, 25•7 Whistleblowers, 32 • 24−32 • 25, 41 • 7, U.S. Department of Labor, 13•9, 13•11 U.S. Patent and Trademark Office 41 • 16-41 • 17, 42 • 4, 42 • 7 (USPTO), 22•3 White test,  $9 \bullet 7 - 9 \bullet 10$ U.S. Supreme Court. See Supreme Court of Work-life expectancy, 13•3 Wrongdoer's rule, 5•13–5•14 the United States Wrongful death, 13•4–13•8, 13•10, U.S. Treasury bonds as risk-free, 10•3 13 • 12 – 13 • 13 Unlevered beta, 11 • 35 Wrongful termination, 13•4–13•8, 13•11, Unsystematic risk, 11 • 35 38 • 25 Validity of surveys, 7 • 11 – 7 • 14, 7 • 17 – 7 • 18, 7 • 27 – 7 • 28 Zone-of-interests test, 19•8 Valuation, 11•35 Z-scores, 38 • 9–38 • 11, 38 • 17–38 • 18, entrepreneurial profit, 34 • 10–34 • 12 38 • 20 – 38 • 23, 39 • 10, 39 • 18